
 

 
 

 

  

 

FRIDAY 15TH SEPTEMBER 2017 
 

ERW JOINT COMMITTEE 
Y LLWYFAN, COLLEGE ROAD, CARMARTHEN AT 2.30 PM, 

ON THURSDAY, 21ST SEPTEMBER, 2017 
 
 

A G E N D A   

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   

2. DECLARATIONS OF PERSONAL INTERESTS   

3. TO SIGN AS A CORRECT RECORD THE MINUTES OF THE 
MEETING OF THE JOINT COMMITTEE HELD ON THE 17TH JULY 
2017.  

3 - 12 

4. ERW STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS FOR 2016-17.  13 - 74 

5. ERW CONSORTIUM ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 2016-
17.  

75 - 86 

6. REGIONAL CODE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE.  87 - 120 

7. REVIEW OF ERW FINANCIAL ARRANGEMENTS.  121 - 138 

8. CAPACITY OF CHALLENGE ADVISERS.  139 - 156 

9. G.C.S.E. RESULTS.  157 - 168 

10. ANY OTHER ITEMS OF BUSINESS THAT BY REASONS OF 
SPECIAL CIRCUMSTANCES THE CHAIR DECIDES SHOULD BE 
CONSIDERED AS A MATTER OF URGENCY PURSUANT TO 
SECTION 100(4)(B) OF THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972  

 

 
 
 
 

Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

 

 
ERW Joint Committee 

Monday, 17th July, 2017 
Y Llwyfan, College Road, Carmarthen  

2.00  - 3.50 pm 
 

 
PRESENT:  Councillor Ellen ap Gwynn [Chair] 

Councillor Emlyn Dole Carmarthenshire County Council 

Councillor David Simpson Pembrokeshire County Council 

Councillor Rosemarie Harris Powys County Council 

Councillor Jennifer Raynor City and County of Swansea 

Councillor Peter Rees Neath Port Talbot County Borough Council 

Councillor Myfanwy Alexander Powys County Council 

Mr Mark James Lead Chief Executive – ERW 

Ms Bronwen Morgan Ceredigion County Council 

Mr Ian Westley Pembrokeshire County Council 

Mr Jeremy Patterson Powys County Council 

Mr Aled Evans Lead Director – ERW  

Ms Betsan O’Connor Managing Director - ERW 

Mr Jonathan Haswell Pembrokeshire County Council  

(ERW S151 Officer) 

Ms Elin Prysor Ceredigion County Council  

(ERW Monitoring Officer) 

Mr Ian Budd Powys County Council 

Ms Chris Sivers City and County of Swansea 

Ms Jo Hendy Pembrokeshire County Council 

(ERW Head of Internal Audit) 

Mr Ian Eynon Pembrokeshire County Council 
(ERW Deputy S151 Officer) 

Mr Steve Davies Welsh Government 

Ms Katie Morgan ERW 

Ms Catherine Gadd Carmarthenshire County Council  

(Democratic Services) 

 

 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



 

 
 

 

 
1. APPOINTMENT OF CHAIR AND VICE-CHAIR 

 
Agreed that: 

(i) Councillor Ellen ap Gwynn be appointed Chair; 
(ii) Councillor Emlyn Dole be appointed Vice Chair. 

 
2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Rob Jones (Neath Port 
Talbot County Borough Council), Councillor Rob Stewart (City and County of 
Swansea), Mr Steven Phillips (Neath Port Talbot County Borough Council) and Mr 
Phil Roberts (City and County of Swansea). 
 

3. DECLARATIONS OF PERSONAL INTERESTS 
 
There were no declarations of personal interests. Members of the Joint Committee 
were provided with forms to update their personal interests and the Managing 
Director of ERW requested that the completed forms be returned to ERW. 
 
AGREED that Members of the Joint Committee return their completed 
Personal Interests Forms to ERW. 
 

4. MINUTES -  20TH FEBRUARY 2017 
 
AGREED that the minutes of the meeting held on 20th February 2017 be 
signed as a correct record. 
 

5. RISK REGISTER 
 
The Joint Committee was provided with a copy of the Risk Register which 
highlighted the main risks within the Corporate, Financial and School Improvement 
areas which enabled ERW to mitigate potential risks wherever possible. It was 
noted that the risk register would be reformatted to make it clearer for future 
meetings. 
 
The Managing Director of ERW highlighted the two key risks identified in the 
Central Risk Register. Firstly, the region’s capacity to respond to the potential 
requirements of the revised National Model and White Paper – Reforming Local 
Government. Secondly, the letters received from Welsh Government outlining 
expectations on how ERW should be using its Pupil Deprivation Grant (PDG) 
2017-2018: Support for looked after children, within the spirit of the terms and 
conditions, as detailed within the report. 
 
It was noted that the risk register for Ceredigion was missing from the report. 
Officers would ensure it was circulated to the Committee and included in future 
papers. 
 
AGREED that the risk register be received and approved. 
 

6. LEAD DIRECTOR AND MANAGING DIRECTOR UPDATE 

Page 4



 

 
 

 

 
A verbal update on activities was provided to the Joint Committee by the Lead 
Director and Managing Director of ERW. The Chair requested a written report for 
future meetings. It was noted that detailed information on feedback from 
Headteachers was included in a later report. 
 
The Managing Director of ERW updated the Committee on the national 
developments to improve PISA scores. Each region had a representative on a 
national group that was leading on this work. It was highlighted that schools had 
been made fully aware of the resources available to them in the preparation for 
PISA tests. It was highlighted that these resources were also useful in preparing 
for GCSEs as they were the same skills set. It was noted that two Headteachers 
from the region had been appointed by Welsh Government to support this work. 
Jackie Parker, Headteacher of Crickhowell in Powys to support all schools in 
ERW; and Heather Lewis of Ysgol y Strade to support Welsh medium schools 
specifically across Wales, as the data suggests that there could be some 
anomalies in PISA data for Welsh schools. It was confirmed that the First Minister 
of Wales was still committed to the targets for PISA. 
 
An update was provided on the arrangements for drafting the new National Model. 
It was explained that due to elections and other sets back that the work on this 
project had been delayed and would not commence until the autumn term.  
 
The Managing Director of ERW provided feedback on GCSE results. It was noted 
that it was anticipated that the new requirements for GCSE curriculum would result 
in a new data set that would not be comparable with previous years. Another 
variable that was discussed was early entry of pupils for exams. Members queried 
why this had an impact on results as pupils should only be entered early if they 
were ready to sit the exams. It was explained that far more year 10 pupils were 
being entered early, which affected the attainment of the cohort. It was highlighted 
that the best possible outcomes for learners was a priority and entering early for 
an exam could result in pupils receiving a lower grade than if they had completed 
the full course. In addition, those pupils that received a grade C were not always 
being re-entered for the exam in order to get the best possible outcome. The Lead 
Director explained that there had been discussions with Directors of Education and 
Further Education institutions regarding this issue. Concern was expressed about 
Estyn making judgements on schools during this period and not taking the 
changes in standards into full account. It was noted that no formal conversations 
had taken place but Estyn were aware of this discrepancy. It was agreed that a 
report on early entry, including regional data, would be brought to a future meeting 
of the Committee. 
 
The Managing Director of ERW informed the Committee that the Self-Assessment 
would be completed by the end of the month. The report was an annual process 
drawing together the main findings of many sources of evaluation and quality 
assurance activity during the year. It was noted that the main themes would 
include: 

 The variation in the work of Challenge Advisers from Local Authority to 
Local Authority. 

 The differentiation between Local Authorities in the way they delivered 
aspects of support to schools. 

Page 5



 

 
 

 

 The duplication of work of the ERW Central Team by Local Authority Staff 
on key national priorities and this affected value for money. 

 
It was highlighted that ERW had arranged briefings with Members from the six 
Local Authorities to provide an update on the work of the consortium, which would 
be particularly beneficial to new members. It was noted that good communication 
across the region was a key factor in ERW working effectively.  
 
Regional collaboration with other regions was noted as an area strength. There 
were two key pieces of work highlighted in particular, the Leadership Academy 
and a campaign to reduce teacher workload. The Lead Director explained that 
leadership and professional development in the region was being addressed and 
the Leadership Academy was a national programme to ensure there was coherent 
and consistent support available across all four regions. Members raised concerns 
about differences in the quality of support provided and preventing duplication. It 
was explained that the Leadership Academy would provide more consistency to 
support leadership at a range of levels and it would be licensed to ensure it was 
the right standard. It was clarified that the timescale for developing this work was 
that a common offer for aspects of leadership would be available in all regions by 
September 2017 and a full programme in place by September 2018. 
 
It was noted that Estyn would be inspecting ERW the week commencing 13th 
November 2017. Briefings would be available to Members in the week 
commencing 18th September 2017. 
 
AGREED that: 

(i) the report be received and accepted; 
(ii) a report, including regional data, on Early Entry and Key Stage 4 

Performance would be presented to a future meeting of the Joint 
Committee. 

 
7. LETTER FROM SCRUTINY 

 
The Joint Committee was informed that the Chairs and Vice Chairs of scrutiny, 
from all six Local Authorities, had held their bi-annual meeting in Ceredigion, on 
27th February, 2017. The Committee received the conclusions and 
recommendations from the meeting. 
 
The topics discussed during the meeting included Performance Management, 
School Categorisation, Estyn Inspection of ERW, the campaign to recruit teachers, 
Elective Home Education and School Governance. It was noted that the Group 
would welcome a response to any of the points raised. In particular, they 
highlighted that they would like to receive a response from the Joint Committee in 
relation to why some local authorities were not at the agreed full quota of 
Challenge Advisors and what was being done to address this? 
 
Members of the Joint Committee requested a report on the quota of Challenge 
Advisors to be presented to the Committee, before responding to that particular 
query. 
 
AGREED that 

Page 6



 

 
 

 

7.1 the report be received; 
7.2 a report on the quota of Challenge Advisors to presented to the next 

meeting of the Joint Committee. 
7.3 that a response be drafted to the points raised by the Group. 
 
 

8. ERW STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS FOR 2016-17 
 
The Section 151 Officer for ERW explained that the Welsh Audit Office had not yet 
produced the Audit of Financial Statements Report (ISA 260) and therefore the 
report had to be withdrawn from the meeting. It was noted that the Statement of 
Accounts were required to be signed off by 30th September 2017 and it was 
requested that an additional meeting of the Joint Committee be held in September 
to consider this report. 
 
Agreed that 
8.1  the report be withdrawn from today’s meeting; 
8.2 an additional meeting of the ERW Joint Committee be arranged for 

September 2017. 
 

9. ERW FINANCIAL UPDATE - QUARTER 1 2017-18 
 
The Committee received the updated financial position for the year 2017-18. The 
report detailed the draft indicative budgets for 2018-19 and 2019-20 financial 
years, reserves available to the ERW region over the next 3 years, expected level 
of Welsh Government grant funding for the 2017-18 financial year and information 
on the number, roles and cost of seconded staff from the constituent Local 
Authorities and schools. The number of secondments was highlighted as a risk to 
the effective organisation of the regional central team. 
 
It was explained that there had been a change to Service Level Agreements to 
ensure that they were a true reflection of the cost of ERW and there was now full 
cost recovery. It was noted that the roles of the lead officers were still provided 
free of charge from the regions. 
 
It was highlighted that the delay in confirmation and payment of grants was a risk 
to the region. The Section 151 Officer explained that there were still significant 
final instalments of 2016-17 grants from Welsh Government outstanding, which 
put additional financial pressure on the lead banker for the region at a time when 
Local Authorities were under increasing financial pressure. It was noted that if 
ERW had its own bank account it would have run out of funds. It was explained 
that there had been a significant restructure of the Education Department within 
Welsh Government, which included finance. Such changes should improve the 
situation for timely payment of grants and the Committee could judge next year 
whether improvements had been made. 
 
It was highlighted that forward planning was difficult without an indication of the 
allocation of grant money over a longer period. It was noted that Welsh Ministers 
were aware of these concerns and were looking at how to address them. 
 

Page 7



 

 
 

 

The Section 151 Officer explained the position in regards to reserves and that the 
projected budget for the next three years would result in reserves being depleted. 
The Committee agreed for a financial review to be undertaken. 
 
AGREED that 
9.1 the report be received and the ERW financial update Quarter 1 2017-18 

be noted; 
9.2 the changes to the ERW Central Team Revenue Budget and ERW 

reserves for 2017-18 and future years be approved; 
9.3 the significant amount of grant income the region is to receive this 

financial year be noted but concern was expressed that final offer 
letters remain outstanding; 

9.4 the significant risk to the region given the uncertainty that continued 
to surround the approval of several grant funding streams be noted; 

9.5 the significant risk to the region given the amount of core funding it 
receives and the effect on the region’s reserves over the medium term 
be noted; 

9.6 that a full financial review be undertaken of both grants and core 
funding. 

 
10. ERW CONSORTIUM HEAD OF INTERNAL AUDIT ANNUAL ASSURANCE 

OPINION 2016-17 
 
The Joint Committee received the Head of Internal Audit’s Annual Assurance 
Opinion 2016-17 on the effectiveness of ERW’s governance, internal control, risk 
management and financial management arrangements. It was noted that the 
Internal Audit Plan for 2016/17 had been delivered in accordance with the 
schedule agreed by the Committee. The quality assurance and improvement 
programme confirmed compliance with mandatory requirements. Substantial 
assurance was given on the adequacy and effectiveness of arrangements in 
place. It was noted that there were opportunities for improvement that were further 
expanded upon in the Internal Audit Report. 
 
AGREED that the Head of Internal Audit Annual Assurance Opinion 2016-17 
be noted. 
 
 

11. ERW CONSORTIUM ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 2016-17 
 
Officers explained that the report was linked to the revised Regional Code of 
Corporate Governance and, as further work was required to the Code, it was 
requested that this item be withdrawn from the meeting. It was agreed that the 
report would be presented at the additional meeting of the Joint Committee in 
September 2017. 
 
Agreed that the report be withdrawn from the meeting and presented to the 
additional meeting of the Joint Committee. 
 

12. ERW CONSORTIUM INTERNAL AUDIT REPORT 2016-17 
 

Page 8



 

 
 

 

The Joint Committee considered the ERW Consortium Internal Audit Report 2016-
17, which gave assurance on the effectiveness or governance, internal control, 
risk management and financial management arrangements. The Head of Internal 
Audit informed the Committee that substantial assurance can be given on the 
adequacy and effectiveness of the arrangements in place. However, there were a 
number of opportunities for improvement to the adequacy and effectiveness of 
existing arrangements. It was highlighted that an action plan had been produced to 
address the areas of improvement identified in the review. 
 
It was explained that with regard to support for schools the support provided was 
not always in line with the improvements identified and targets were not always 
met. It was noted that the Committee had already requested information on the 
deployment of Challenge Advisers and agreed that the report be extended to 
include the quality and performance of Advisers. The Managing Director of ERW 
explained that she would report back with the information they had available on 
the performance of Challenge Advisers and the standards expected. It was noted 
that other regions could progress this work faster as Challenge Advisers were 
directly line managed by the consortia and this was not the case for ERW. 
 
It was noted in the report that support between schools was not being developed 
consistently. It was highlighted that the sharing of good practice between schools 
was very useful and several examples were provided. It was clarified that 
feedback was also provided to those schools that were sharing their good practice. 
 
AGREED that 
12.1 the ERW Consortium Internal Audit Report 2016-17 be noted; 
12.2 the report on the quota of Challenge Advisers be extended to include 

the quality, performance and deployment of advisers and support staff 
and recommendations as to how to respond to the risks identified in 
the Internal Audit Report. 

 
13. REGIONAL CODE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

 
It was noted that the Regional Code of Corporate Governance required further 
work and it was requested that the report be withdrawn from the meeting. It was 
agreed that it would be presented to the additional meeting of the Joint Committee 
being arranged for September 2017. 
 
Agreed that the report be withdrawn and presented to the additional meeting 
of the Joint Committee. 
 

14. VALUE FOR MONEY 
 
The Joint Committee received an update report on the scheduled work programme 
for value for money reviews for 2017-18. Officers outlined that the framework that 
had been previously agreed by the Committee covered seven key aspects and the 
report contained an update of progress on two specific strands, which were 
comparison with other regions and increased use of digital working. 
 
It was explained that several different working groups had been established and 
were working on an inter-regional collaborative level to compare strategies, learn 

Page 9



 

 
 

 

from one another and produce regional positive outcomes. For example, the 
finance group had met to discuss structures, resources, funding models and best 
practice. The sharing of best practice and the formation of a common framework 
had ensured that the consortia could maintain an effective attitude towards change 
whilst minimising the individual use of resources and limit duplication. A Consortia 
Project Manager had been appointed, which further improved ERW’s ability to 
compare with other regions and work collaboratively. It was noted that there had 
been a greater level of consistency when dealing with Welsh Government and the 
aim was to continue to secure regular meetings between the group and Welsh 
Government representatives. Some concern was raised that it would encourage 
Welsh Government to consider the group as a national organisation. It was 
clarified that the group understood its role in joint working and there were clear 
regional strands. It was noted that it was important to recognise what worked 
effectively. 
 
It was highlighted that there had been increased use of the digital working on 
travel, subsistence, stationary and administration. Examples were provided of the 
positive impact of this work which had resulted in improved capacity and 
integrated processes. 
 
AGREED that the update on value for money be noted and that the 
scheduled work programme for value for money be noted. 
 

15. HEADTEACHERS EVALUATION REPORT 
 
The Joint Committee considered the Headteachers Evaluation report, which 
analysed interviews and online questionnaire with the region’s Headteachers as to 
how they perceive ERW and the role it is playing in their day to day school life. 
 
The Managing Director of ERW explained that the Headteacher questionnaire in 
previous years had been providing an improving picture of feedback but this had 
not been consistent with ongoing discussions with Headteachers and other 
stakeholders. ERW had commissioned an independent more in depth evaluation 
to support the findings of the questionnaire.  
 
The feedback from this work had demonstrated that key areas of the region’s work 
were not improving as a sufficient pace. 
 
The key messages were: 

 Inconsistency in quality of support and challenge from Challenge Advisers. 

 The turnover of Challenge Advisers for each school was a hurdle to 
continuity. 

 The inconsistency in perceptions across the region as to what ERW’s 
functions were, specifically when Local Authority employed advisers were 
engaging with schools. 

 As a region, ERW was not moving along the school improvement 
continuum fast enough. Leading to greater need for sharing good practice 
and school to school work. 
 

It was noted more consistency was required for school to school support and in 
building confidence of schools in school improvement services.  

Page 10



 

 
 

 

 
It was explained that by September ERW Central Team had prepared the 
following improvements to communication: 

 A new website that should result in better communication with schools.  

 Specific information to be emailed to Headteachers.  

 More general information would be circulated via the ERW newsletter.  

 All schools would have a menu of support and professional learning was 
available to ensure needs were better matched and there was improved 
preparation for core visits. 

 
Members noted the quotes and comments in the report that highlighted the 
demands on Headteachers and the increased amount of paperwork. It was 
highlighted that the four regions were collaborating on a Reducing Teacher 
workload resource for September. 
 
AGREED that the Headteachers Evaluation Report be received. 
 

16. CLUSTER MODEL 
 
The Joint Committee received a report on key developments necessary to deliver 
the ERW Business Plan and Strategy and respond to key government priorities 
and improve the quality of teaching and learning in the region. The report provided 
an update on a key delivery mechanism to delivering support to and between 
schools. 
 
The Committee was informed that ERW would fund each cluster to employ a 
Leader of Learning to support all schools to improve the quality of teaching and 
learning and to also enhance the capacity of leadership throughout the cluster. It 
was noted that the work builds on best practice from current Leader of Learning 
secondary work and the work of other regions in funding collaboration. 
 
Members queried the risks associated with increased cost for cluster work and it 
was clarified that the risks were from secondments in future years and delayed 
confirmation and payment of grants. Concern was raised about meeting linguistic 
requirements in some clusters and it was confirmed that the allocation of skills 
would meet need. In addition, it was noted that the support needs of each cluster 
had been mapped against needs and that a link Headteacher had been identified 
to support each network. 
 
It was asked if there was the capacity to fill the posts for Leaders of Learning, as 
the region was struggling to recruit challenge advisers. It was noted that there had 
been interest from eager and highly skilled teachers who seemed to be of the right 
calibre and who view the curriculum changes as a good opportunity. It was also 
noted that recruitment of Challenge Advisers was undertaken by Local Authorities 
not ERW centrally. 
 
AGREED that  
16.1 the Cluster Model Report be received; 
16.2 the development of Teaching and Learning networks of schools 

across the region be approved. 
 

Page 11



 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 

 
________________________    __________________ 
CHAIR       DATE 

Page 12



 

 

                             

 
                                    ERW JOINT COMMITTEE 

21 SEPTEMBER 2017 

 

ERW Statement of Accounts for 2016-17 

 

Purpose: Approval and signing of the ERW Statement of Accounts for 
2016-17 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS / KEY DECISIONS REQUIRED: 

 

Joint Committee approval of the ERW Statement of Accounts for 2016-17 
 
ERW Statement of Accounts for 2016-17 to be signed by the ERW S151 
Officer and the Chair of the Joint Committee 

REASONS: To obtain approval of the Joint Committee 

 
 

Report Author: 

 

Jon Haswell 

Designation: 

 

ERW S151 Officer 

Tel No. 01437 775836 

 

E. Mail: 
haswellj@pembrokeshire.gov.uk 

 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 13

Agenda Item 4



 

 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

ERW JOINT COMMITTEE 

21 SEPTEMBER 2017 
 

ERW Statement of Accounts for 2016-17 

 

BRIEF SUMMARY OF PURPOSE OF REPORT 
(a) The Joint Committee review the ERW Statement of Accounts for 

2016-17 and consider the WAO Audit of Financial Statements Report 
and Audit Opinion (ISA260). 

 
(b)  The ERW Statement of Accounts for 2016-17 be approved and signed 

by the ERW S151 Officer and the Chair of the Joint Committee. 
 

DETAILED REPORT ATTACHED? YES 

 
IMPLICATIONS 

 

Policy, Crime & 
Disorder and 
Equalities 

Legal  Finance  Risk Management Issues  Staffing Implications 

NONE YES YES YES NONE 

1. Legal 

As detailed in the report - Statutory requirement to approve the ERW Statement of 
Accounts for 2016-17 by 30 September 2017. 

2. Finance 
As detailed in the report. 

3. Risk Management 
As detailed in the report. 

 
CONSULTATIONS 

ERW Statement of Accounts for 2016-17 were available for public inspection for 20 
working days ending on 30 June 2017. 
 
 

Section 100D Local Government Act, 1972 – Access to Information 
List of Background Papers used in the preparation of this report: 

THESE ARE DETAILED BELOW 

Title of Document 
 

File Ref 
No. 

Locations that the papers are available for 
public inspection  

N/A N/A N/A 
 

Page 14



 

Audit of Financial Statements Report – 
Education through Regional 
Working Joint Committee 

Audit year: 2016-17 

Date issued: August 2017 

Document reference: 477A2017 

 

Page 15



 

 

This document has been prepared as part of work performed in accordance with statutory functions. 

In the event of receiving a request for information to which this document may be relevant, attention  

is drawn to the Code of Practice issued under section 45 of the Freedom of Information Act 2000.  

The section 45 code sets out the practice in the handling of requests that is expected of public 

authorities, including consultation with relevant third parties. In relation to this document, the Auditor 

General for Wales and the Wales Audit Office are relevant third parties. Any enquiries regarding 

disclosure or re-use of this document should be sent to the Wales Audit Office at 

infoofficer@audit.wales. 

We welcome correspondence and telephone calls in Welsh and English. Corresponding in Welsh will 

not lead to delay. Rydym yn croesawu gohebiaeth a galwadau ffôn yn Gymraeg a Saesneg. Ni fydd 

gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi. 

 

 

Page 16

mailto:infoofficer@audit.wales


Contents 

Page 3 of 18 - Audit of Financial Statements Report – Education through Regional Working Joint 

Committee 

The Auditor General intends to issue an unqualified audit report on your financial 

statements. There are some issues to report to you prior to their approval, 

 

Summary report  

Introduction 4 

Status of the audit 4 

Proposed audit report 4 

Significant issues arising from the audit 5 

Recommendations arising from our 2016-17 financial audit work 6 

Independence and objectivity 6 

Appendices 

Appendix 1 – Final Letter of Representation 7 

Appendix 2 – proposed audit report of the Auditor General to the  

Education through Regional Working Joint Committee 10 

Appendix 3 – summary of corrections made to the draft financial statements  

which should be drawn to the attention of the Education through Regional  

Working Joint Committee 12 

Appendix 4 – recommendations arising from our 2016-17 financial audit work 13 

 

Page 17



Summary report 

Page 4 of 18 - Audit of Financial Statements Report – Education through Regional Working Joint 

Committee 

Introduction 

1 The Auditor General is responsible for providing an opinion on whether the 

financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the 

Education through Regional Working (ERW) Joint Committee (the Joint 

Committee) at 31 March 2017 and its income and expenditure for the year then 

ended. 

2 We do not try to obtain absolute assurance that the financial statements are 

correctly stated, but adopt the concept of materiality. In planning and conducting 

the audit, we seek to identify material misstatements in your financial statements, 

namely, those that might result in a reader of the accounts being misled. 

3 The quantitative levels at which we judge such misstatements to be material for the 

Joint Committee are £1.3million. Whether an item is judged to be material can also 

be affected by certain qualitative issues such as legal and regulatory requirements 

and political sensitivity.  

4 International Standard on Auditing (ISA) 260 requires us to report certain matters 

arising from the audit of the financial statements to those charged with governance 

of a body in sufficient time to enable appropriate action. 

5 This report sets out for consideration the matters arising from the audit of the 

financial statements of the Joint Committee, for 2016-17, that require reporting 

under ISA 260. 

Status of the audit 

6 We received the draft financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2017 on 

2 June 2017, two days after the target deadline of 31 May 2017. This was still well 

in advance of the current statutory deadline of 30 June. 

7 We have now substantially completed the audit work and are reporting to you the 

more significant issues arising from the audit, which we believe you must consider 

prior to approval of the financial statements. The audit team has already discussed 

these issues with the Joint Committee’s Section 151 officer and his team. 

Proposed audit report 

8 It is the Auditor General’s intention to issue an unqualified audit report on the 

financial statements once you have provided us with a Letter of Representation 

based on that set out in Appendix 1.  

9 The proposed audit report is set out in Appendix 2.  

 

 

 

Page 18



 

Page 5 of 18 - Audit of Financial Statements Report – Education through Regional Working Joint 

Committee 

Significant issues arising from the audit 

Uncorrected misstatements  

10 There are no misstatements identified in the financial statements, which remain 

uncorrected. 

Corrected misstatements 

11 There are misstatements that have been corrected by management, but which we 

consider should be drawn to your attention due to their relevance to your 

responsibilities over the financial reporting process. They are set out with 

explanations in Appendix 3. 

Other significant issues arising from the audit 

12 In the course of the audit, we consider a number of matters both qualitative and 

quantitative relating to the accounts and report any significant issues arising to you. 

There were some issues arising in these areas this year: 

 We have no significant concerns about the qualitative aspects of your 

accounting practices and financial reporting although there is scope to 

improve the accounts closure process. We were unable to complete the 

audit by the target deadline of the 17 July 2017 Joint Committee as we 

needed additional time to work with officers to resolve misstatements 

identified in the draft accounts presented for audit. Improvements to the 

closure process, as listed in ‘Matter arising 1’ of Appendix 4 are required to 

prevent issues recurring in future years and allow the Joint Committee to be 

well placed to be able to meet earlier closure deadlines.  

 We did not encounter any significant difficulties during the audit. We 

were not restricted in our work and received the information that we required 

to complete our audit although we did experience some delays receiving 

some supporting evidence. We will continue to work with Joint Committee 

officers to clarify our working paper requirements and delivery timetable to 

ensure that delays are limited in future years. 

 There were no significant matters discussed and corresponded upon 

with management which we need to report to you.  

 There is one other matter significant to the oversight of the financial 

reporting process that we need to report to you. The value of central 

expenditure on ERW projects, funded through Welsh Government grant, has 

increased significantly since the inception of the Joint Committee. This 

expenditure totalled £4.3million in 2016-17, with £0.31million being used to 

fund the costs of the Central Team. The financial monitoring reports for Joint 

Committee and Executive Board continue to focus on central team 

Page 19



 

Page 6 of 18 - Audit of Financial Statements Report – Education through Regional Working Joint 

Committee 

‘overhead’ expenditure. Grant allocations are not split out between those 

grants paid to member authorities and those grants being used to support 

ERW’s centrally run projects. There appears to be limited Member oversight 

of the use of centrally held funds. 

 We did not identify any material weaknesses in your internal controls.  

 There are no other matters specifically required by auditing standards 

to be communicated to those charged with governance.   

Recommendations arising from our 2016-17 
financial audit work 

13 The recommendations arising from our financial audit work are set out in 

Appendix 4. Management has responded to them and we will follow up progress 

on them during next year’s audit. Where any actions are outstanding, we will 

continue to monitor progress and report it to you in next year’s report. 

Independence and objectivity 

14 As part of the finalisation process, we are required to provide you with 

representations concerning our independence. 

15 We have complied with ethical standards and in our professional judgment, we are 

independent and our objectivity is not compromised. There are no relationships 

between the Wales Audit Office and the Joint Committee that we consider to bear 

on our objectivity and independence. 

 

Page 20



Appendix 1 

Page 7 of 18 - Audit of Financial Statements Report – Education through Regional Working Joint 

Committee 

Final Letter of Representation 

[Joint Committee’s letterhead] 

Appointed Auditor 

Auditor General for Wales 

Wales Audit Office 

24 Cathedral Road 

Cardiff 

CF11 9LJ 

  

21 September 2017 

Representations regarding the 2016-17 financial statements 

This letter is provided in connection with your audit of the financial statements of the 

Education through Regional Working Joint Committee for the year ended 31 March 2017 

for the purpose of expressing an opinion on their truth and fairness and their proper 

preparation. 

We confirm that to the best of our knowledge and belief, having made enquiries as we 

consider sufficient, we can make the following representations to you. 

Management representations 

Responsibilities 

We have fulfilled our responsibilities for:  

 the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with legislative 

requirements and the CIPFA Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the 

UK 2016-17; in particular the financial statements give a true and fair view in 

accordance therewith; and 

 the design, implementation, maintenance and review of internal control to prevent 

and detect fraud and error. 

Information provided 

We have provided you with: 

 Full access to: 

‒ all information of which we are aware that is relevant to the preparation of 

the financial statements such as books of account and supporting 

documentation, minutes of meetings and other matters; 

Page 21



 

Page 8 of 18 - Audit of Financial Statements Report – Education through Regional Working Joint 

Committee 

‒ additional information that you have requested from us for the purpose of the 

audit; and 

‒ unrestricted access to staff from whom you determined it necessary to 

obtain audit evidence. 

 The results of our assessment of the risk that the financial statements may be 

materially misstated as a result of fraud. 

 Our knowledge of fraud or suspected fraud that we are aware of and that affects 

the Education through Regional Working Joint Committee and involves: 

‒ management; 

‒ employees who have significant roles in internal control; or 

‒ others where the fraud could have a material effect on the financial 

statements. 

 Our knowledge of any allegations of fraud, or suspected fraud, affecting the 

financial statements communicated by employees, former employees, regulators or 

others. 

 Our knowledge of all known instances of non-compliance or suspected  

non-compliance with laws and regulations whose effects should be considered 

when preparing the financial statements. 

 The identity of all related parties and all the related party relationships and 

transactions of which we are aware. 

Financial statement representations 

All transactions, assets and liabilities have been recorded in the accounting records and 

are reflected in the financial statements. 

Significant assumptions used in making accounting estimates, including those measured 

at fair value, are reasonable. 

Related party relationships and transactions have been appropriately accounted for and 

disclosed. 

All events occurring subsequent to the reporting date which require adjustment or 

disclosure have been adjusted for or disclosed. 

All known actual or possible litigation and claims whose effects should be considered 

when preparing the financial statements have been disclosed to the auditor and 

accounted for and disclosed in accordance with the applicable financial reporting 

framework. 

The financial statements are free of material misstatements, including omissions.  

  

Page 22



 

Page 9 of 18 - Audit of Financial Statements Report – Education through Regional Working Joint 

Committee 

Representations by the Joint Committee 

We acknowledge that the representations made by management, above, have been 

discussed with us. 

We acknowledge our responsibility for the preparation of true and fair financial 

statements in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework. The financial 

statements were approved by the Joint Committee on 21 September 2017. 

We confirm that we have taken all the steps that we ought to have taken in order to make 

ourselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that it has been 

communicated to you. We confirm that, as far as we are aware, there is no relevant audit 

information of which you are unaware. 

 

Signed by: 

 

Signed by: 

 

 

Section 151 Officer  Chair of Joint Committee 

Date: 21 September 2017 Date: 21 September  2017 

 

Page 23



Appendix 2 

Page 10 of 18 - Audit of Financial Statements Report – Education through Regional Working Joint 

Committee 

Proposed audit report of the Auditor General to 
the Education through Regional Working Joint 
Committee  

Auditor General for Wales’ report to the Members of the 

Education through Regional Working Joint Committee 

I have audited the accounting statements and related notes of Education through 

Regional Working Joint Committee for the year ended 31 March 2017 under the Public 

Audit (Wales) Act 2004.  

Education through Regional Working Joint Committee’s accounting statements comprise 

the Movement in Reserves Statement, the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

Statement, the Balance Sheet and the Cash Flow Statement. 

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable 

law and the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2016-

2017 based on International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs). 

Respective responsibilities of the responsible financial officer and the Auditor General for 

Wales 

As explained more fully in the Statement of Responsibilities for the Statement of 

Accounts, the responsible financial officer is responsible for the preparation of the 

statement of accounts, which gives a true and fair view. 

My responsibility is to audit the accounting statements and related notes in accordance 

with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those 

standards require me to comply with the Financial Reporting Council’s Ethical Standards 

for Auditors. 

Scope of the audit of the accounting statements 

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 

accounting statements and related notes sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the 

accounting statements and related notes are free from material misstatement, whether 

caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of: whether the accounting 

policies are appropriate to the Education through Regional Working Joint Committee’s 

circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the 

reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the responsible financial 

officer and the overall presentation of the accounting statements and related notes. 

In addition, I read all the financial and non-financial information in the Narrative Report to 

identify material inconsistencies with the audited accounting statements and related notes 

and to identify any information that is apparently materially incorrect based on, or 

Page 24



 

Page 11 of 18 - Audit of Financial Statements Report – Education through Regional Working Joint 

Committee 

materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by me in the course of performing 

the audit. If I become aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies, I 

consider the implications for my report.  

Opinion on the accounting statements of Education through Regional Working Joint 

Committee 

In my opinion the accounting statements and related notes:  

 give a true and fair view of the financial position of Education through Regional 

Working Joint Committee as at 31 March 2017 and of its income and expenditure 

for the year then ended; and 

 have been properly prepared in accordance with the Code of Practice on Local 

Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2016-2017. 

Opinion on other matters 

In my opinion, the information contained in the Narrative Report is consistent with the 

accounting statements and related notes. 

Matters on which I report by exception 

I have nothing to report in respect of the following matters, which I report to you, if, in my 

opinion: 

 adequate accounting records have not been kept; 

 the accounting statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and 

returns;  

 I have not received all the information and explanations I require for my audit; or 

 the Governance Statement does not reflect compliance with guidance.  

Certificate of completion of audit 

I certify that I have completed the audit of the accounts of Education through Regional 

Working in accordance with the requirements of the Public Audit (Wales) Act 2004 and 

the Auditor General for Wales’ Code of Audit Practice. 

 

 

 

For and on behalf of       Wales Audit Office 

Huw Vaughan Thomas      24 Cathedral Road 

Auditor General for Wales     Cardiff 

      September 2017      CF11 9LJ 

 

Page 25



Appendix 3 

Page 12 of 18 - Audit of Financial Statements Report – Education through Regional Working Joint 

Committee 

Summary of corrections made to the draft 
financial statements which should be drawn to 
the attention of the Education through Regional 
Working Joint Committee 

During our audit we identified the following misstatements that have been corrected by 

management, but which we consider should be drawn to your attention due to their 

relevance to your responsibilities over the financial reporting process. 

Exhibit 1: Summary of corrections made to the draft financial statements. 

Value of correction Nature of correction Reason for correction 

£3,402,000 Note 4.1 Revenue Grants 

Welsh Government grants 

‘passported to member 

authorities were understated, 

with payments to schools for 

specific work and supplies 

and services being 

overstated. 

To correct the 

misclassification of 

transactions where Welsh 

Government, rather than 

the Joint Committee, had 

set the funding for each 

school.  

This included payments 

made for Digital Pioneer 

Schools, Schools 

Challenge Cymru and 

Informal Use of Welsh. 

- Note 4.4.1 Remuneration 

Details 

An employee receiving 

remuneration in excess of 

£60,000 has been removed 

from the note as seconded 

staff should be shown in the 

member authority accounts 

and not the Joint Committee 

accounts. 

To comply with the Local 

Government Code and 

Accounts and Audit 

(Wales) Regulations 2014. 

  

 

Page 26



Appendix 4 

Page 13 of 18 - Audit of Financial Statements Report – Education through Regional Working Joint 

Committee 

Recommendations arising from our 2016-17 
financial audit work 

We set out all the recommendations arising from our audit with management’s response 

to them. We will follow up these next year and include any outstanding issues in next 

year’s audit report: 

Exhibit 2: Matter arising 1 

Matter arising 1 – Accounts closure processes 

Findings We were unable to complete the audit by the target 

deadline of 17 July 2017 due to some delays in 

obtaining working papers at the start of the audit. We 

also needed additional time to work with officers to 

address and correct a number of misstatements in the 

draft financial statements.  

Priority High 

Recommendation The accounts closure process should be reviewed to 

ensure that high quality financial statements and 

working papers can be produced on a timely basis. This 

should include: 

 a review of how transactions are recorded in the 

ledger to reduce the amount of time required to 

check and allocate transactions on a line-by-line 

basis as part of closure processes; 

 clarifying roles and responsibilities between Joint 

Committee officers and Pembrokeshire County 

Council officers (as lead authority for Finance); 

 reviewing the classification of transactions in the 

ledger and having a clear rationale for when 

transactions are payments to schools for specific 

work, supplies and services and payments made 

directly to local authorities; and 

 agreement of working paper requirements and a 

deliverables timetable with the Wales Audit Office. 

Accepted in full by 

management 

Accepted. 

Page 27



 

Page 14 of 18 - Audit of Financial Statements Report – Education through Regional Working Joint 

Committee 

Management response Having been the first body to have their 2015-16 

statement of accounts audited and approved, it is 

disappointing that there was a delay in having the 2016-

17 statement of accounts audited and approved.  The 

delay was due to changes in accounting personnel 

during 2016-17, workload levels (volume and late 

notification of grants by Welsh Government) and limited 

capacity at the time of closure and compilation of the 

statement of accounts.  We will review and update the 

accounts closure process to ensure that in future, high 

quality financial statements and working papers are 

produced on a timely basis. 

Implementation date November 2017 

Exhibit 3: Matter arising 2 

Matter arising 2 – Overview of Joint Committee Central Expenditure 

Findings Joint Committee central expenditure consists of the 

costs of running the central team which is predominantly 

made up of permanently employed officers and running 

costs. In addition, expenditure is incurred on the delivery 

of projects directly by the Joint Committee. These costs 

are for a range of transactions but mainly for staff 

seconded to the Joint Committee from member 

authorities or schools and funding for specific projects to 

be undertaken by specific schools. 

The costs of the central team are included in budget 

monitoring reports reviewed by the Joint Committee 

and/or Executive Board but there is little analysis in 

those reports on the expenditure incurred on central 

projects. 

Priority High 

Recommendation Budget monitoring reports should be expanded to 

provide Members with information on the expenditure 

incurred on centrally delivered projects.  

Accepted in full by 

management 

Accepted. 

Management response Future reporting will include Central Team expenditure 

and expenditure on projects delivered by the Central 

Team. 

Implementation date Next Joint Committee meeting. 

 

 

Page 28



 

Page 15 of 18 - Audit of Financial Statements Report – Education through Regional Working Joint 

Committee 

Exhibit 4: Matter arising 3 

Matter arising 3 - Use of Grant Funding 

Findings The costs of the central team (salaries and running costs 

such as translation) are funded via member authority 

contributions, reserves and, increasingly, grant funding. 

However, some grant funding streams are not 

guaranteed for more than one financial year.  

Priority High 

Recommendation Whilst we have not identified any funding of central costs 

which appears contrary to grant terms and conditions, 

the Joint Committee should be clear on which fixed 

costs are being funded using grants and ensure that this 

approach is sustainable for funding fixed costs. 

Accepted in full by 

management 

Accepted. 

Management response Any posts in the Central Team which are funded by 

grant are fixed term for the period of grant funding.  We 

will review the sustainability of grant funding contributing 

to the costs of the Central Team.  This risk has been 

recognised and included in the ERW Annual 

Governance Statement for 2016-17. 

Implementation date November 2017 

Exhibit 5: Matter arising 4 

Matter arising 4 – Allocation of transactions to financial years and supporting 

evidence 

Findings We identified one payment where the full value of the 

invoice was recognised in the accounts but the 

supporting evidence confirmed that work was only partly 

completed at 31 March. 

We also identified another transaction where it was 

difficult to confirm whether work undertaken on behalf of 

the Joint Committee had been completed in advance of 

the financial year-end. 

Priority High 

Recommendation Accounts closure processes need to ensure that only 

transactions relating to work completed before the 

financial year end are recognised in expenditure in the 

financial statements. 

Robust evidence of the completion of work should be 

requested from providers and retained for audit 

purposes, particularly where the Joint Committee uses 

estimates to establish the value of expenditure to be 

recognised. 

Page 29



 

Page 16 of 18 - Audit of Financial Statements Report – Education through Regional Working Joint 

Committee 

Accepted in full by 

management 

Accepted. 

Management response We will review and update the accounts closure process 

to ensure that only transactions relating to work 

completed before the financial year end are recognised 

in expenditure in the financial statements, and to ensure 

that robust evidence of the completion of work is 

requested from providers and retained for audit 

purposes, particularly where we use estimates to 

establish the value of expenditure to be recognised. 

Implementation date November 2017 

Exhibit 6: Matter arising 5 

Matter arising 5 – Related Party/Conflict of Interest Declarations 

Findings We identified that up to date conflict of interest 

declarations were not available for all members of the 

Joint Committee and Executive Board at the time of 

audit. These are due to be collated in Autumn 2017. 

Priority Medium 

Recommendation Declarations of interest returns should be completed by 

all members of the Joint Committee and Executive 

Board in advance of preparing the annual statement of 

accounts. This should ensure that any relevant 

disclosures can be made in the accounts.  

Accepted in full by 

management 

Accepted. 

Management response All members of the Joint Committee and Executive 

Board will be required to complete and/or update their 

register of interest declarations. 

Implementation date November 2017 

 

 

Page 30



Page 31



 

 

Wales Audit Office 

24 Cathedral Road 

Cardiff CF11 9LJ 

Tel: 029 2032 0500 

Fax: 029 2032 0600 

Textphone.: 029 2032 0660 

E-mail: info@audit.wales 

Website: www.audit.wales 

Swyddfa Archwilio Cymru 

24 Heol y Gadeirlan 

Caerdydd CF11 9LJ 

Ffôn: 029 2032 0500 

Ffacs: 029 2032 0600 

Ffôn testun: 029 2032 0660 

E-bost: post@archwilio.cymru 

Gwefan: www.archwilio.cymru 

 

Page 32

mailto:info@audit.wales
http://www.audit.wales/
mailto:post@archwilio.cymru
http://www.archwilio.cymru/


1 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

ERW Statement of Accounts 
 for 2016-17 

 
Director of Finance 
(ERW S151 Officer) 

Page 33



2 
 

REVIEW OF ERW STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS for 2016-17 
 
1.  The Joint Committee aimed to publish its draft 2016-17 Statement of 

Accounts by 31 May 2017 and have them audited and approved by 31 July 
2017.  The deadlines required by the Accounts and Audit (Wales) Regulations 
2014 were 30 June 2017 and 30 September 2017 respectively. 

 
2. The Budget Outturn Monitoring Report for 2016-17 was considered by the 

Joint Committee on 20 February 2017.  The draft Statement of Accounts for 
2016-17 were published on 2 June 2017 and have been subject to audit by 
ERW’s external auditors, the Wales Audit Office (WAO). The WAO have 
completed their audit and have issued their Audit of Financial Statements 
Report and Audit Opinion (ISA260), copy attached as an Appendix, for 
consideration of the Joint Committee. 

 
3. The Joint Committee need to review and formally approve the Statement of 

Accounts for 2016-17, copy attached as an Appendix. 
 
4. ERW’s Statement of Accounts must comply with Cipfa’s Code of Practice on 

Local Authority Accounting (the Code), which is based on International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), and also the requirements of 
accounting and financing regulations of government. IFRS provides a 
comprehensive framework of mandatory requirements for the production of 
financial statements in the public and private sector and this framework is 
continually being refined.  

 
5. The overall financial position of ERW is recognised in a number of key 

statements within the Statement of Accounts, namely the Expenditure and 
Funding Analysis, Comprehensive Income & Expenditure Statement (CIES), 
Movement in Reserves Statement and the Balance Sheet. 

 
 Further details on these and other statements within the Statement of 

Accounts for 2016-17 are outlined below: 
 

 Narrative Report (The Explanatory Foreword in previous years) – The 
purpose of the Narrative Report is to provide a commentary on the 
Statement of Accounts. It includes an explanation of key events and their 
effect on the Statement of Accounts.  

 

 Expenditure and Funding Analysis (Categorised as a core financial 
statement for 2016-17) – This statement shows the reconciliation 
between how annual expenditure is used and funded from resources 
(cash basis) by ERW in comparison with those resources consumed or 
earned by the Authority in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting practices (IFRS basis).  

 

Page 34



3 
 

 Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES) – The CIES 
reports on how ERW performed during the year and whether its 
operations resulted in a surplus or deficit. It shows the economic cost in 
the year of providing services. It analyses ERW’s day to day expenditure 
on the basis of the Cipfa Service Reporting Code of Practice (SeRCOP) 
groupings (including future pension costs etc.) on the basis of 
organisational structure. 

 

 Movement in Reserves Statement – Reserves represent ERW’s net worth 
and show its spending power. They are analysed into two categories, 
usable and unusable.  

 

 Balance Sheet – The balance sheet is a “snapshot” of ERW’s financial 
position at a specific point in time, showing what it owns (assets) and 
owes (liabilities) at 31 March.  

 

 Cash Flow Statement – This sets out ERW’s cash receipts and payments 
during the year, analysing them into operating, investing and financing 
activities.  

 
6.  The Joint Committee review of the Statement of Accounts for 2016-17 should 

be focused on the following issues: 
 
(a)  Financial Reporting Standards 
 
 The International Financial Reporting and Other Standards that have been 

issued have been applied as required by the Code.  
 
 The Code requires that ERW discloses information relating to the impact of 

an accounting change that will be required by a new standard that has been 
issued but not yet adopted by the Code for the relevant financial year.  

 
 The standards introduced in the 2017-18 Code that are relevant are: 
 

 Amendments to IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements 

 IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 
 

The impact of the above changes is unlikely to be material but will result in 
some presentational changes and these will be disclosed in the 2017-18 
Statement of Accounts. 

 
The Statement of Accounts for 2016-17 have been prepared in compliance 
with the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting for 2016-17. 

 
 
 
 

Page 35



4 
 

(b) Accounting Concepts 
 

The following pervasive accounting concepts have been used in the 
preparation of the Core Accounting Statements: 

 

 Accruals 

 Going concern 
 

The qualitative characteristics of financial information continue to be 
employed: 
 

 Relevance 

 Comparability 

 Verifiability 

 Timeliness 

 Understandability 

 Materiality  

 Faithful Representation 

 Completeness 

 Neutrality 

 Free from error 

 Primacy of legislative requirements 
 
 
(c)  Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies and Estimation Risk 

 

In applying the accounting policies set out in the Statement of Accounts for 
2016-17, the Joint Committee has made judgements about the complex 
transactions and those involving uncertainty in future years.  

 
Although there is a high degree of uncertainty about the future level of 
funding for local government, to date Education has been a priority for the 
Welsh Government.  Therefore, while some grants may be reduced and given 
the small number of employees directly employed by ERW, there is 
insufficient evidence to conclude that the Joint Committee activities will be 
severely impaired or reduced in future years. 
 
In certain instances it has been necessary to estimate the changes made in 
the accounts using historical experience, current trends etc. Actual results 
may be different from the assumptions made and consequently may affect 
the charges made in future years’ accounts.  

 

 
 
 
 

 

Page 36



5 
 

The main risk areas are set out in the following tables:  
 

Issues appertaining to items in the current Statement of Accounts: 

Item Risk Potential Affect 

Contractual 
Obligations  

Incorrect quantifications 
and legal challenge 

Additional charge to the Joint 
Committee and its Partner 
Authorities 

Grant Funding Claimed ineligible 
expenditure 

Loss of grant with expenditure 
to be funded from core or 
grant clawback 

Pension Liability Actuarial assumptions 
incorrect 

Increased Employer 
Contributions at future date 

 
 

Issues potentially impacting the Statement of Accounts in the future: 

Item Risk Potential Affect 

Confirmation of Regional 
Position as Delivery 
Mechanism for School 
Improvement 

Increased funding from 
WG and subsequent 
expectations 

Inability to respond to 
increasing expectations of 
regional working 

Changes in Political 
Priorities 

Reduced funding Reduction in service, or 
cessation of regional 
working 

Educational Outcomes 
 

Pupils Attainment does 
not Improve at the 
necessary pace 

Loss of future grant 
funding/Local Authorities 
having to change support 
levels to ERW 

Grant Funding Claimed ineligible 
expenditure 

Loss of grant with 
expenditure to be funded 
from core or grant 
clawback 

Delay in Receiving Grant 
Funding  

Committed 
expenditure not being 
eligible. Poor planning 

Loss of grant with 
expenditure to be funded 
from core or grant 
clawback 

Demographic Change 
 

Assumptions Incorrect Increased service & 
contractual costs 

Grant Funding/Brexit 
 

Loss of grant from Welsh 
Government & Europe 

Reduction in service 
provision 

Governance 
 

Decisions not made in 
timely manner 
 

Delay in improvements 
 
Budget over/under spends 
& loss of grant funding 

Transformation/ 
Alternative Service 
Delivery 
 

Changed ways of 
working do not deliver 
assumed financial 
savings 

Budget over/under spend 
 
Separate accounting 
arrangements 

Page 37



6 
 

Issues potentially impacting the Statement of Accounts in the future: 

Item Risk Potential Affect 

Welsh Language Standard 
 

Assumption incorrect Increased service & 
contractual costs 

Wellbeing of Future 
Generations Act 

Act not considered in 
decision making 

Cost of corrective action 

Grant funding withheld by 
Welsh Government 

ERW not adhering to 
regional nature of grant 
conditions 

Schools do not access the 
support required 

 
(d) Accounting Policies  
 

The accounting policies used to prepare the Core Accounting Statements, the 
Supporting Notes and Supplementary Financial Statements have been 
reviewed using the Code for 2016-17. 

 
(e) Internal Control Issues 
 

 The ERW Head of Internal Audit Annual Assurance Opinion for 2016-17, 
considered by the Joint Committee on 17 July 2017, confirms that there are 
no significant internal control issues which would impact upon the Statement 
of Accounts for 2016-17. 

 
(f) Wales Audit Office 

 
The Wales Audit Office have completed their audit of the Statement of 
Accounts for 2016-17 and have issued their Audit of Financial Statements 
Report and Audit Opinion (ISA 260), copy attached as an Appendix, for 
consideration of the Joint Committee. 

 
7. The Director of Finance (ERW S151 Officer) and Head of Finance & Business Services 

(ERW Deputy S151 Officer) will support the Joint Committee at the meeting in 
reviewing the Statement of Accounts for 2016-17 and the specific matters 
highlighted above. 

 
8. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
(a) The Joint Committee review the ERW Statement of Accounts for 2016-17 and 

consider the WAO Audit of Financial Statements Report and Audit Opinion 
(ISA260). 

 
(b)  The ERW Statement of Accounts for 2016-17 be approved and signed. 
 
 
 
 

Page 38



Page 39



Page 40



Page 41



Page 42



Page 43



Page 44



Page 45



Page 46



Page 47



Page 48



Page 49



Page 50



Page 51



Page 52



Page 53



Page 54



Page 55



Page 56



Page 57



Page 58



Page 59



Page 60



Page 61



Page 62



Page 63



Page 64



Page 65



Page 66



Page 67



Page 68



Page 69



Page 70



Page 71



Page 72



Page 73



Page 74



 

 

 
 

ERW JOINT COMMITTEE  

       21 SEPTEMBER 2017 

 

ERW Consortium Annual Governance Statement 2016-17 

 

Purpose: To provide the Joint Committee with the findings from the annual 
review of Governance arrangements for the ERW Consortium for 2016-17. 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS / KEY DECISIONS REQUIRED: 

 

To approve the Annual Governance Statement 2016-17. 

REASONS: Statutory requirement. 

 
 

Report Author: 

Jo Hendy 

 

Designation: 

Head of Internal Audit 

 

Tel No. 01437 776213 

 

E. Mail: 

Joanne.hendy@pembrokeshire.gov.
uk 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 75

Agenda Item 5



 

 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

ERW JOINT COMMITTEE 

21 SEPTEMBER 2017 
 

ERW Consortium Annual Governance Statement 2016-17 

 

BRIEF SUMMARY OF PURPOSE OF REPORT 
To provide the Joint Committee with the findings from the annual review of 
Governance arrangements 2016-17 for the ERW Consortium and to agree the Priorities 
for Improvement. 
 

 

DETAILED REPORT ATTACHED? YES 

 
IMPLICATIONS 

 
Policy, Crime & 
Disorder and 
Equalities 

Legal  Finance  Risk Management Issues  Staffing Implications 

NONE 
 

YES 
 

YES NONE NONE 
 

1. Legal 

The review and update of ERW’s Legal Agreement has been included as a Priority for 
Improvement. 

2. Finance 

ERW is heavily dependent on grant funding from Welsh Government.  Delays in Welsh 
Government confirming funding for 2017-18 presents difficulties in meaningful business 
planning.  There has also been delays in paying grant funding from the previous year 
which has led to financial pressure on the Lead Banker. 

Currently the ERW Business Plan is not aligned to the financial model, this presents 
concerns over the achievability of the plan within existing resources. 

 
CONSULTATIONS 

Details of any consultations undertaken are to be included here. 
 
 

Section 100D Local Government Act, 1972 – Access to Information 
List of Background Papers used in the preparation of this report: 

THESE ARE DETAILED BELOW 

Title of Document 
 

File Ref 
No. 

Locations that the papers are available for 
public inspection  

   
 

Page 76



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Datganiad Llywodraethu 

Blynyddol 2016-17 

 

Annual Governance 

Statement 2016-17 

Page 77



 

 Annual Governance Statement 2016-17 

Introduction  

ERW is an alliance of six local authorities governed by a legally constituted Joint Committee. 

ERW provides a single integrated regional professional school effectiveness service driving 

school improvement and learner achievement across the combined area of six local 

authorities in the South West and Mid Wales region within three hubs: 

 Carmarthenshire/Pembrokeshire 

 Ceredigion/Powys 

 Neath Port Talbot/Swansea 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Review of Governance Arrangements 
 

What is Governance? 
ERW is responsible for ensuring that its business is conducted in accordance with laws, 

regulations and its ethical standards.  The governance framework is the process, culture, 

values and systems by which this is achieved. 

 
To deliver good governance in local government, both ERW and its Officers must try to 

achieve ERW’s objectives whilst acting in the public interest at all times.  Acting in the public 

interest implies primary consideration of the benefits for society, which should result in 

positive outcomes for service users and other stakeholders. 

 
The next two pages outline the Business Planning Cycle and the Governance Structure in 

place to monitor and provide challenge to the delivery of intended outcomes. 

Vision 

“consistently high performing school network across the region with every school offering high 

standards of teaching under good leadership resulting in all learners achieving their maximum 

potential” 

Mission Statement 

“build school capacity through support, challenge and intervention to become self-improving, 

resilient organisations which continually improve outcomes for learners” 

Page 78



  

Review + 
Strategy 

Joint 
Committee 

Strategy  

Erw + LA Level 1  

Executive Board 

Planning 

Level 2 

Priority Boards 

Implementation 

Level 3 

Workstreams 

Review 

Level 2 

Priority Boards 

Evaluate 

Executive Board 

  

Support Learning 
Support Learning 

Planning and Evaluation Cycle 

Review Planning 

P
age 79



  

Review + 
Strategy 

Joint 
Committee 

Strategy  

Erw + LA Level 1  

Executive Board 

Planning 

Level 2 

Priority Boards 

Implementation 

Level 3 

Workstreams 

Review 

Level 2 

Priority Boards 

Evaluate 

Executive Board 

 
 The Governance and Accountability 

Process 

 

P
age 80

http://www.erw.wales/about-us/joint-committee/


Governance Framework 
 
ERW Business Plan 
A three year Business Plan is in place to support the collective priorities and actions for the 

ERW Consortium.  The Business Plan is reviewed and updated on an annual basis.   The 

Business Plan 2016-2019 explains how ERW will enhance and develop the National Model of 

School Improvement and deliver the Minister’s priorities in ‘Qualified for Life’. 

 

Joint Committee 

The Joint Committee is made up of the six Local Authority Leaders supported by the six 

Chief Executives and is advised by the Executive Board, Statutory Officers, external school 

improvement experts and Headteacher representatives.  Internal Audit and Wales Audit 

Office report independently to the Joint Committee. 

 

Executive Board 

The Executive Board is made up of the Directors of Education of each of the six local 

authorities, the Managing Director, the Section 151 Officer and external members.   

 

Scrutiny 

All workstreams and activity both locally and regionally are led by the Joint Committee and 

are accountable locally.  The Chairs and Vice Chairs of the six local authorities’ Education 

Scrutiny Committees meet bi-annually as a Scrutiny Group to consider scrutiny work plans 

and make requests directly to the Joint Committee. 

 

Headteacher Representative Board 

The Headteacher Representative Board is made up of the Chair or Representative of each 

Headteacher association in the six local authorities.  Its aim is to act as a reference point to 

ERW in terms of its interface with school leaders. 

 

Statutory Officers 

Statutory roles are divided across the Local Authorities.   Statutory Officers during 2016-17: 

Lead Chief Executive Officer – Mark James, Carmarthenshire County Council 

Lead Education Director – Aled Evans, Neath Port Talbot County Borough Council 

Section 151 Officer – Jon Haswell, Pembrokeshire County Council 

Monitoring Officer – Elin Prysor, Ceredigion County Council 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 81

http://www.erw.wales/business-plans-and-strategies/business-plans/
http://www.erw.wales/governance/joint-committee/
http://www.erw.wales/about-us/executive-board/
http://www.erw.wales/
http://www.erw.wales/governance/headteacher-representative-board/


Internal Audit 

Pembrokeshire County Council, as the Lead Authority for Finance, provides the Internal 

Audit Service to ERW.  The role of Internal Audit is to provide independent assurance on the 

effectiveness of governance, internal control, financial management and risk management 

arrangements in place.  In accordance with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards a risk-

based plan of work was agreed with the Section 151 Officer and the Managing Director and 

was approved by the Joint Committee in November 2016. The Head of Internal Audit’s 

Annual Opinion concluded that overall, subject to variation between individual audit areas 

and the need for further improvement and development in some areas, generally 

substantial assurance can be given on the effectiveness of governance, internal control, 

financial management and risk management arrangements in place. 

 

External Audit & Regulators 

The Wales Audit Office are the appointed external auditors for ERW.  Estyn provide an 

independent inspection and advice service on quality and standards in education and 

training provided in Wales.  Estyn in association with Wales Audit Office published a report 

on the ‘Quality of the School Improvement Services provided by the ERW Consortium’ in 

September 2016. 

 

Review of Effectiveness 
 

ERW has responsibility for conducting, at least annually, a review of the effectiveness of its 

governance framework including the system of internal control. The review of effectiveness 

for 2016-17 was informed by a self-assessment of compliance with the CIPFA Delivering 

Good Governance in Local Government Framework 2016, by the Managing Director.  

Additional assurance was provided from the Head of Internal Audit Annual Assurance 

Opinion based on the work undertaken by Internal Audit in 2016-17; the Estyn and Wales 

Audit Office Inspection Report September 2016, and the minutes from the ERW Joint 

Committee and Executive Board.  The outcome of the review was circulated to ERW 

Statutory Officers for consideration and comment. The diagram on the next page outlines 

what assurance was required, what sources of assurance were available under the current 

Governance Structure, the sources of assurance provided and the areas for improvement 

identified. 

There were no Significant Governance Issues identified, however there are a number of 

Priorities for Improvement.  The action plan on page 8 provides further detail along with the 

actions planned and timescale for addressing.  

Page 82



Review of ERW’s Governance Arrangements for 2016-17 

 

 

 Assurance Required on 

 Achievement of 

objectives; 

 Adherence to ethical 

standards; 

 Compliance with laws, 

regulations and internal 

policies & procedures; 

 Standards of conduct 

and behaviour; 

 Financial management, 

including achievement 

of value for money; 

 Sustainability; 

 Quality of service 

delivery; 

 Management of risk; 

 Accountability. 

 

Sources of Assurance 

 ERW Legal Agreement; 

 Joint Committee; 

 Executive Board; 

 Scrutiny; 

 Headteacher 

Representative Group; 

 Policies; 

 Business Plan & 

Strategies; 

 Financial Plans; 

 Internal Audit Reports; 

 External & Regulator 

Reports; 

 Self-Evaluation Report; 

 Statutory Officers; 

 HR policies and 

procedures; 

 Impact Report; 

 Value for Money 

Reviews; 

 Risk Registers. 

 

Assurance Received 

 Estyn Inspection 

Report; 

 Letter from Scrutiny; 

 Internal Audit Report; 

 Statement of Accounts; 

 Head of Internal Audit 

Opinion; 

 Joint Committee 

Minutes; 

 Executive Board 

Minutes. 

Areas for Improvement 

 ERW’s commitment to 

the latest CIPFA Good 

Governance Framework 

has not been defined; 

 Grant Funding 

arrangements with Welsh 

Government; 

 The Business Plan needs 

to be aligned to the 

financial model; 

 Support delivered to 

schools is not 

consistently provided in 

line with need; 

 

P
age 83

https://www.estyn.gov.wales/sites/default/files/documents/ERW%20Eng.pdf
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/sites/default/files/documents/ERW%20Eng.pdf
http://www.erw.wales/media/195312/joint-committee-21116.pdf
http://www.erw.wales/governance/joint-committee/
http://www.erw.wales/governance/joint-committee/
http://www.erw.wales/governance/executive-board/
http://www.erw.wales/governance/executive-board/


Priorities for Improvement 2016-17 

 

Priority for Improvement Action Planned Timescale and Lead Officer 

The Local Code of Corporate Governance for ERW needs to be 

re-written in line with the requirements of CIPFA’s Delivering 

Good Governance in Local Government Framework 2016.   

Draft revised Code of Corporate Governance Managing Director  

October 2017 

The ERW Legal Agreement, which would include details of the 

Service Level Agreements between ERW and respective 

authorities, needs to be reviewed and updated in consultation 

with the Monitoring Officer, Section 151 Officer and Lead 

Director. 

Amendments and updates awaiting opportunity to be 

presented to Joint Committee 
Managing Director. 

Dependant on advice of 

Lead Chief Exec 

ERW is dependent on grant funding from Welsh Government.  

Delays in paying grant owed from 2016-17 has led to a financial 

pressure on the Lead Banker.  There are also delays in Welsh 

Government confirming funding for 2017-18, which puts 

pressure on planning and achievability of the business plan.  Any 

posts reliant on grant funding also represent a financial risk to 

ERW if the funding were to cease. 

To continue to highlight in the Risk Register and make 

sure that the conversations with WG on these matters 

continue between MDs and WG Director of Education. 

Managing Director  

ongoing 

The ERW business plan should be aligned to the financial model 

of the Consortium to enable effective planning within available 

resources. 

See above. It is currently not possible to completely 

align ERW BP with financial model.  
Managing Director  

ongoing 

Support delivered to schools by Challenge Advisers needs to be 

applied consistently in line with identified need and recorded so 

that the impact of support can be effectively measured. 

Compliance and quality reporting to Exec Board is a 

standing agenda item. Each known compliance matter 

will be raised individually with relevant Director of 

Education. (Challenge Advisers and employed, 

deployed and performance managed by LAs) 

Directors of Education 

September 2017 

P
age 84



 
We are committed to implementing the improvements outlined above to enhance the 

achievement of our intended outcomes.  We are satisfied that these steps will address areas 

of improvement identified by both out internal and external assurance providers. 

 

Signed by Betsan O’Connor, ERW Managing Director 

 

 

 

Date: 

 

Signed by Mark James, Lead Chief Executive 

 

 

 

Date: 

 

Signed by Cllr. Ellen AP Gwynn, Chair of the Joint Committee 

 

 

 

Date: 

Page 85



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
   ERW JOINT COMMITTEE  

21 SEPTEMBER 2017 
 

Regional Code of Corporate Governance  

 

PURPOSE:  To present to the Joint Committee the report and submit the 
Regional Code of Corporate Governance. 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS / KEY DECISIONS REQUIRED: 

 

That the Joint Committee receive the report 

REASONS:  

 

Additional assurances to go with Internal Audit report 
 

Report Author: 

 

Betsan O’Connor 

Designation: 

 

Managing Director  

Tel No. 01267 676840 

 

E. Mail: 
Betsan.oconnor@erw.org.uk 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 87

Agenda Item 6

mailto:Betsan.oconnor@erw.org.uk


 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

ERW JOINT COMMITTEE 

21 SEPTEMBER 2017 

Regional Code of Corporate Governance  

 

BRIEF SUMMARY OF PURPOSE OF REPORT 
The report is split into the following Core Principles, in line with PCC Internal Audit’s Core 
Principles: 

 
Core Principle A: Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values, 
and respecting the rule of law. 
Core Principle B: Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement. 
Core Principle C: Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social and 
environmental benefits. 
Core Principle D: Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement of the 
intended outcomes. 
Core Principle E: Developing ERW’s capacity including the capability of its leadership and the 
individuals within it. 
Core Principle F: Managing risks and performance through robust internal control and strong 
public financial management. 
Core Principle G: Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting and audit to deliver 
effective accountability. 
 
In each core principle, evidence sources for assurance of their implementation is noted. A 
large bulk of the evidence is located on the Pembrokeshire and ERW Intranets respectively.  

 

DETAILED REPORT ATTACHED? YES 

IMPLICATIONS 

Policy, Crime & 
Disorder and 
Equalities 

Legal  Finance  Risk Management Issues  Staffing Implications 

NONE NONE NONE YES NONE 

1. Risk Management 

The Corporate Code of Governance is an additional layer of assurance for Internal Audit, and 
failure to comply with their recommendations is noted as a risk on the Central Risk Register. 

CONSULTATIONS 
N/A 
 
 

Section 100D Local Government Act, 1972 – Access to Information 
List of Background Papers used in the preparation of this report: 

THESE ARE DETAILED BELOW 

Title of Document File Ref No. Locations that the papers are available for public inspection  

N/A N/A N/A 
 
 

Page 88



 
Regional Code of Corporate Governance 
ERW 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

July 2017 
   

P
age 89



1 
 

 

ERW’s Regional Code of Corporate Governance has been developed in accordance with ‘Delivering Good Governance in 

Local Government: Framework (CIPFA/Solace, 2016) (‘the Framework’).  

The overall aim is to ensure that resources are directed in accordance with agreed policy and according to priorities, that 

there is sound and inclusive decision-making and that there is clear accountability for the use of those resources in order 

to achieve desired outcomes for service users and communities.  The Framework positions the attainment of sustainable 

economic, societal, and environmental outcomes as a key focus of governance processes and structures, which is in line 

with the requirements of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. 

Governance comprises the arrangements put in place to ensure that the intended outcomes for stakeholders are defined 

and achieved.  To deliver good governance in the public sector entities must try to achieve their entity’s objectives while 

acting in the public interest at all times.  Acting in the public interest implies primary consideration of the benefits for 

society, which should result in positive outcomes for service users and other stakeholders. 

 

  

P
age 90



2 
 

 

Core Principle A: Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical 

values, and respecting the rule of law. 

As an organisation, we are accountable not only for how much we spend, but also for how we use 

resources.  This includes accountability for outputs, both positive and negative, and for the outcomes 

achieved as a result.  In addition, we have an overarching responsibility to serve the public interest in 

adhering to the requirements of legislation and government policies.  It is essential that, as a whole, we 

can demonstrate the appropriateness of all our actions across all activities and have mechanisms in place 

to encourage and enforce adherence to ethical values and to respect the rule of law. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 91



3 
 

 

Sub Principle: Behaving with Integrity 
Requirement Local Guidance  Sources of Assurance 

Ensuring Officers behave with 
integrity and lead a culture 
where acting in the public 
interest is visibly and consistently 
demonstrated thereby protecting 
the reputation of ERW. 

 Induction for Officers and Members  

 Monitoring Officer and Section 151 Officer 
Guidance 

 Equal Opportunities Policy  

 ERW Values and Aims 

 Performance appraisals  

 Declarations at meetings 

 Publication of Delegated Decisions 

 Minutes of the Executive Board and 
Joint Committee meetings 

 Minutes of meetings 

 Declarations of interest  

 Conduct of meetings 

 Monitoring Officer 

 Section 151 Officer 

 Other Statutory Officer 

 Register of gifts and hospitality  

Ensuring Officers take the lead in 
establishing values for ERW and 
its staff and that they are 
communicated and understood.  
These should build on the Seven 
Principles of Public Life (the 
Nolan Principles).  

 Legal Agreement  

 Regional Code of Corporate Governance 

 ERW Values and Aims 

 Code of Conduct 

 Equal Opportunities Policy 
 

Demonstrating, communicating 
and embedding the values 
through appropriate policies and 
processes, which are reviewed 
on a regular basis to ensure that 
they are operating effectively. 

 HR Policies   

 Legal Agreement  

 Regional Code of Corporate Governance 

 ERW Values and Aims 

 Code of Conduct 

 Equal Opportunities Policy 
 

Sub Principle: Demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values 
Requirement Local Guidance  Sources of Assurance 

Seeking to establish, monitor and 
maintain ERW’s ethical standards 
and performance. 

 Complaints Policy  

 Code of Conduct 

 Equal Opportunities Policy 

 Scrutiny work plan and minutes  

 Scrutiny function  

 Monitoring Officer Role 

 Complaints & Compliments  

 Performance Appraisals for Central 

Underpinning personal behaviour 
with ethical values and ensuring 

 Job descriptions 

 Induction Arrangements 

P
age 92



4 
 

 

they permeate all aspects of 
ERW’s culture and operation. 

 Independent Statutory Officers 

 Equal Opportunities Policy  

Team 

 Internal and External Assurance 
Provider Reviews 

 Partnership Agreements / SLAs 

 Self-Evaluation 
 
 
 

Developing and maintaining 
robust policies and procedures 
which place emphasis on agreed 
ethical values. 

 Monitoring Officer Advice and Guidance 

 Equal Opportunities Policy 

 Welsh Language Policy 

Ensuring that external providers 
of services on behalf of ERW are 
required to act with integrity and 
in compliance with ethical 
standards expected by ERW. 

 Contracts 

 Procurement and Tendering Specification 
and Evaluation.  Authorisation Forms for 
Decision Required 

 SLAs 

 Training and development, guidance and 
feedback to LA employed staff working for 
ERW. 

Sub Principle: Respecting the rule of law 
Requirement Local Guidance  Sources of Assurance 

Ensuring members and staff 
demonstrate a strong 
commitment to the rule of the 
law as well as adhering to 
relevant laws and regulations. 

 Statutory Provisions 

 Monitoring Officer advice and guidance 

 Code of Conduct 

 Equal Opportunities Policy 

 Statutory guidance is followed 

 Monitoring & Appraisals 

 Feedback 

 Internal and External Audit Reports 
 
 
 
 

Creating the conditions to ensure 
that the statutory officers, other 
key post holders, and members, 
are able to fulfil their 
responsibilities in accordance 
with legislative and regulatory 
requirements. 

 Job descriptions 

 Joint Committee support 

Striving to optimise the use of 
the full powers available for the 
benefit of citizens, communities 

 Advice and guidance from Legal Services 

 Monitoring Officer  

P
age 93



5 
 

 

 

  

and other stakeholders.   
Ensuring corruption and misuse 
of power are dealt with 
effectively. 

P
age 94



6 
 

 

Core Principle B: Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement. 

ERW is run for the public good and should ensure openness in our activities. Clear, trusted channels of 

communication and consultation should be used to engage effectively with all groups of stakeholders, such 

as individual’s citizens and service users, as well as institutional stakeholders. 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Sub Principle: Engaging comprehensively with institutional stakeholders 

P
age 95



7 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Requirement Local Guidance  Sources of Assurance 
Effectively engaging with 
institutional stakeholders to ensure 
that the purpose, objectives and 
intended outcomes for each 
stakeholder relationship are clear so 
that outcomes are achieved 
successfully and sustainably.  

 Local/National Guidance 

 Joint Plan for Regional Working (ERW, GWE, 
EAS, CSC) 

 Grant conditions 
  

 Scrutiny Work Plan 

 Legal Agreement 

 Joint Plan 

 Grant Conditions 

 EIG Outcomes Framework 
 

Developing formal and informal 
partnerships to allow for resources 
to be used more efficiently and 
outcomes achieved more effectively.  
Ensuring that partnerships are based 
on: 

 Trust 

 A shared commitment to 
change 

 A culture that promotes and 
accepts challenge among 
partners and that the added 
value of partnerships 
working is explicit.    

 Local/National Guidance 

 Joint Plan for Regional Working 

 Grant conditions 

P
age 96



8 
 

 

 

 

 

Sub Principle: Openness 
Requirement Local Guidance  Sources of Assurance 
Ensuring an open culture through 
demonstrating, documenting and 
communicating ERW’s commitment 
to openness. 

 Joint Committee Meetings 

 Executive Board Meetings 

 Website  

 Public Notices 

 Scheme of Delegation 

 Decision Log from Executive Board / Directors 

 Publication of Joint Committee and Executive 
Board Reports 

 Annual calendar of events and meetings 

 Annual financial calendar of deadlines and 
guidance on compliance 

 Annual Headteacher Survey 
 

Making decisions that are open 
about actions, plans, resource use, 
forecasts, outputs and outcomes. 
The presumption is for openness. If 
that is not the case, a justification for 
the reasoning for keeping a decision 
confidential should be provided.   
Providing clear reasoning and 
evidence for decisions in both public 
records and explanations to 
stakeholders and being explicit about 
the criteria, rationale and 
considerations used. In due course, 
ensuring that the impact and 
consequences of those decisions are 
clear. 

 Committee Meetings 

 Monitoring Officer Advice 

 Democratic Services Report Templates 

 Risk Register 
 

Using formal and informal 
consultation and engagement to 
determine the most appropriate and 
effective interventions/courses of 
action. 

 Complaints Policy 

 Feedback from Headteacher Board 

 Executive Board Function 

 Self-Evaluation 

 Role of Research and Evaluation Officer 

P
age 97

http://pccintranet/content.asp?nav=104,150,153&parent_directory_id=101


9 
 

Core Principle C: Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social and 

environmental benefits. 

The long-term nature and impact of ERW’s responsibilities mean that we should define and plan outcomes 

and that these are sustainable. Decisions should further ERW’s purpose, contribute to intended benefits 

and outcomes, and remain within the limits of authority and resources. Input from all groups of 

stakeholders, including citizens, service users, and institutional stakeholders, is vital to the success of this 

process and in balancing competing demands when determining priorities for the finite resources 

available. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 98



10 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Sub Principle: Defining outcomes 
Requirement Local Guidance  Sources of Assurance 
Having a clear vision which is an 
agreed formal statement of ERW’s 
purpose and intended outcomes 
containing appropriate 
performance indicators, which 
provide the basis for ERW’s overall 
strategy, planning and other 
decisions. 

 Values and Aims 

 Annual Business Plan  

 ERW Strategy 

 Legal Agreement 

 Annual Improvement Cycle 

 Risk Registers and arrangements 
 

Specifying the intended impact on 
or changes for stakeholders 
including citizens and service users. 
It could be immediately or over the 
course of a year or longer. 

 Communication Strategy 

Identifying and managing risks to 
the achievement of outcomes. 

 Risk Register  

Delivering defined outcomes on a 
sustainable basis within the 
resources that will be available.  
Managing service users’ 
expectations effectively with regard 
to determining priorities and 
making the best use of the 
resources available. 

 Financial Plan 

P
age 99

https://www.pembrokeshire.gov.uk/content.asp?nav=101,2096,1566,1710


11 
 

Sub Principle: Sustainable economic, social and environmental benefits 
Requirement Local Guidance  Sources of Assurance 
Considering and balancing the 
combined economic, social and 
environmental impact of policies 
and plans when taking decisions 
about service provision. 

 Legislative requirements  

 National Model for Regional Working 

 Grant Conditions 
 

 Record of decision making and supporting 
materials 

 Complaints and Compliments 

 Service Feedback 

 Risk Register 

 ERW Strategy and Business Plan  Taking a longer-term view with 
regard to decision making, taking 
account of risk and acting 
transparently where there are 
potential conflicts between the 
ERW’s intended outcomes and 
short-term factors such as the 
political cycle or financial 
constraints.  

 All LA Single Plans and Corporate plans  

 Business Plan 

 ERW Strategy 

 Grant Conditions 

 Legal Agreement 

Determining the wider public 
interest associated with balancing 
conflicting interests between 
achieving the various economic, 
social and environmental benefits, 
through consultation where 
possible, in order to ensure 
appropriate trade-offs.  

 HT survey and feedback 

 On-going engagement with ERW HT Board 

 Hub QA 

Ensuring fair access to services.  Equal Opportunities Policy 

 Welsh Language Policy 

 Staff Induction 
 

 

P
age 100



12 
 

Core Principle D: Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement of 

the intended outcomes. 

At ERW we achieve intended outcomes by providing a mixture of legal, regulatory and practical 

interventions (courses of action). Determining the right mix of these courses of action is a critically 

important strategic choice that ERW has to ensure intended outcomes are achieved. 

Robust decision-making mechanisms are in place to ensure that the defined outcomes can be achieved in a 

way that provides the best trade-off between the various types of resource inputs while still enabling 

effective and efficient operations. Decisions made need to be reviewed frequently to ensure that 

achievement of outcomes is optimised. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 101



13 
 

Sub Principle: Determining interventions 
Requirement Local Guidance  Sources of Assurance 
Ensuring decision makers receive 
objective and rigorous analysis of a 
variety of options indicating how 
intended outcomes would be 
achieved and associated risks. 
Therefore, ensuring best value is 
achieved however services are 
provided.  

 Decision making protocols 

 Forward work plans 

 Agenda reports and minutes of 
meetings 

 Data capture of support to schools 
(Rhwyd) 

 Support log analysis 

 Decision log from Executive Board 

Considering feedback from service 
users when making decisions about 
service improvements or where 
services are no longer required in 
order to prioritise competing 
demands within limited resources 
available including people, skills and 
bearing in mind future impacts.  

 HT Conferences 

 Annual Headteacher Survey 

 Newsletter feedback and information from survey 
and questionnaires after events 

 

Sub Principle: Planning interventions 
Requirement Local Guidance  Sources of Assurance 
Establishing and implementing 
robust planning and control cycles 
that cover strategic and 
operational plans, priorities and 
targets. 

 Joint Scrutiny meeting schedule 

 Risk Register 

 Business Plan 

 Minutes of meetings 

 Joint Committee and Executive Board 
meetings 

 Improvement Planning Schedule 

 Service/Project Plans 

 Reports to Committees 

 Partnership Agreements 

 Risk Register 

 Business Plan 

 Planning protocols  

 Service Improvement Plans 

 Quarterly performance report  

Engaging with internal and 
external stakeholders in 
determining how services and 
other courses of action should be 
planned and delivered. 

 Internal Audit Work Programme  

Considering and monitoring risks 
facing each partner when working 
collaboratively, including shared 

 Risk Register 

P
age 102



14 
 

risks.  Scrutiny Committee Reports 

 Budget Monitoring 

 Cost Reduction/Efficiency Monitoring 

 Corporate and Service Improvement 
Plans 

Ensuring arrangements are flexible 
and agile so that the mechanisms 
for delivering goods and services 
can be adapted to changing 
circumstances.  

 Service Improvement Plans 

Establishing appropriate key 
performance indicators (KPI’s) as 
part of the planning process in 
order to identify how the 
performance of services and 
projects is to be measured. 

 Service Improvement Plans  

 Project Plans 

Ensuring capacity exists to 
generate the information required 
to review service quality regularly.  

 Service Improvement Plans and Performance 
Monitoring 

Preparing budgets in accordance 
with objectives, strategies and the 
medium term financial plan.  
 

 Financial Regulations 

Informing medium and long-term 
resource planning by drawing up 
realistic estimates of revenue and 
capital expenditure aimed to 
developing a sustainable funding 
strategy. 

 Financial Regulations 
 

 

Sub Principle: Optimising achievement of intended outcomes 
Requirement Local Guidance  Sources of Assurance 
Ensuring the medium term 
financial strategy integrates and 
balances service priorities, 
affordability and other resource 
constraints. 

 Service Planning Process  Ongoing review of the Medium Term 
Financial Plan 

 Annual Budget Setting Process 

 Annual Budget Report 

 Committee Minutes 
Ensuring the budgeting process is  Service Planning Process 

P
age 103



15 
 

all-inclusive, taking into account 
the full cost of operations over the 
medium and longer term. 

 Quarterly Integrated Reports 
 

Ensuring the medium term 
financial strategy sets the context 
of ongoing decisions on significant 
delivery issues or responses to 
changes in the external 
environment that may arise 
during the budgetary period in 
order for outcomes to be achieved 
while optimising resource usage.   

 Financial Regulations 
 

Ensuring the achievement of 
‘social value’ through service 
planning and commissioning.  

Compliance with the 10 Principles of Welsh Public 
Procurement Policy as detailed in the Welsh Government’s 
Wales Procurement Policy Statement. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 104



16 
 

Core Principle E: Developing ERW’s capacity including the capability of its leadership and the 

individuals within it. 

At ERW we need appropriate structures and leadership, as well as people with the right skills, appropriate 

qualifications and mindset, to operate efficiently and effectively and achieve intended outcomes within the 

specified periods. At ERW we must ensure that we have both the capacity to fulfil our own mandate and to 

make certain that there are policies in place to guarantee that management has the operational capacity 

for ERW as a whole. Because both individuals and the environment in which ERW operates will change 

over time, there will be a continuous need to develop our capacity as well as the skills and experience of 

individual staff members. Leadership is strengthened by the participation of people with many different 

types of backgrounds, reflecting the structure and diversity of communities. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 105



17 
 

Sub Principle: Developing the entity’s capacity 
Requirement Local Guidance  Sources of Assurance 
Reviewing operations, performance 
and use of assets on a regular basis 
to ensure their continuing 
effectiveness.  

 Performance Management 

 Appraisal Process 

 Scrutiny Committees 

 Appraisals 

 Utilisation of research and benchmarking 
exercises 

Improving resource use through 
appropriate application of 
techniques such as benchmarking 
and other options in order to 
determine how resources are 
allocated so that defined outcomes 
are achieved effectively and 
efficiently. 

 Scrutiny Committee 

Recognising the benefits of 
partnership and collaborative 
working where added value can be 
achieved. 

 Joint Plan for Regional Working 

Developing and maintaining an 
effective workforce plan to enhance 
the strategic allocation of 
resources.  

 Workforce Planning Strategy 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 106



18 
 

Sub Principle: Developing the capability of ERW’s leadership and other individuals 
Requirement Local Guidance  Sources of Assurance 
Developing protocols to ensure that 
elected and appointed leaders 
negotiate with each other regarding 
their respective roles early on in the 
relationship and that a shared 
understanding of roles and 
objectives is maintained. 

 Legal Agreement 

 ERW Values and Aims 

 Induction of Members 

 Job descriptions 

 Register of delegated decisions 

 Minutes of Meetings (Executive Board & 
Joint Committee) 

 Induction and ongoing training and 
development programme 

 Arrangements for succession planning. 

 Communication strategy  

 Manager Performance Reviews 

 Employee Performance Reviews 

 Training and development plans 

 HR policies 

 Occupational Health 

Publishing a statement that specifies 
the types of decision that are 
delegated and those reserved for the 
collative decision making of the 
governing body. 

 Legal Agreement 

 Register of delegated decisions 

 Financial Regulations 

Ensuring the Leader and the Chief 
Executive have clearly defined and 
distinctive leadership roles within a 
structure whereby the Chief 
Executive leads in implementing 
strategy and managing the delivery 
of services and other outputs set by 
members and each provides a check 
and a balance for each other’s 
authority.  

 Legal Agreement 

 ERW Values and Aims 

P
age 107



19 
 

Developing the capabilities of 
members and senior management to 
achieve effective leadership and to 
enable ERW to respond successfully 
to changing legal and policy demands 
as well as economic, political and 
environmental changes and risks by: 

 ensuring members and staff 
have access to appropriate 
induction tailored to their 
role and that ongoing 
training and development 
matching individual and 
organisational requirements 
is available and encouraged. 

 ensuring members and 
officers have the appropriate 
skills, knowledge, resources 
and support to fulfil their 
roles and responsibilities and 
ensuring that they are able 
to update their knowledge 
on a continuing basis. 

 Ensuring personal, 
organisational and system-
wide development through 
shared learning, including 
lessons learnt from 
governance weaknesses both 
internal and external.    

 Induction 

 Committee Training Programmes 

 Learning & Development Programme 

 Job Descriptions & Recruitment 

 Best Practice Guidance 

 Workforce Planning Strategy 

 

Ensuring that there are structures in 
place to encourage public 
participation. 
 
 

 

Taking steps to consider the  Performance Management 

P
age 108



20 
 

leaderships own effectiveness and 
ensuring leaders are open to 
constructive feedback from peer 
review and inspections. 

Holding staff to account through 
regular performance reviews, which 
take account of training and 
development needs. 

 Performance Appraisals 

Ensuring arrangements are in place 
to maintain the health and wellbeing 
of the workforce and support 
individuals in maintaining their own 
physical and mental wellbeing. 

 HR Policies and Procedures 

 

  

P
age 109



21 
 

 

Core Principle F: Managing risks and performance through robust internal control and strong 

public financial management. 

At ERW we need to ensure that the organisations and governance structures that we oversee have 

implemented and can sustain, an effective performance management system that facilitates effective and 

efficient delivery of planned services. 

Risk management and internal control are important and integral parts of performance management 

system and are crucial to the achievement of outcomes. Risk should be considered and addressed as part 

of all decision making activities. 

A strong system of financial management is essential for the implementation of policies and the 

achievement of intended outcomes, as it will enforce financial discipline, strategic allocation of resources, 

efficient service delivery and accountability. 

It is also essential that a culture and structure for scrutiny are in place as a key part of accountable decision 

making, policy making and review. A positive working culture that accepts, promotes and encourages 

constructive challenge is critical to successful scrutiny and successful service delivery. 

Importantly, this culture does not happen automatically, it requires repeated public commitment from 

those in authority. 

 

P
age 110



22 
 

Sub Principle: Managing risk 
Requirement Local Guidance  Sources of Assurance 
Recognising that risk management is 
an integral part of all activities and 
must be considered in all aspects of 
decision making. 

 Risk Register  Risk Registers 

 Business Plans 
 

Implementing robust and integrated 
risk management arrangements and 
ensuring that they are working 
effectively. 

 Risk Register 

 Business Plan 
 

Ensuring that responsibilities for 
managing individual risks are clearly 
allocated.  

 Risk Register 

 Business Plan 
 

 

Sub Principle: Managing performance 
Requirement Local Guidance  Sources of Assurance 
Monitoring service delivery 
effectively including planning, 
specification, execution and 
independent post implementation 
review. 

 Service Improvement Plans 

 Performance Management 

 Audit Plans 

 Publication of Joint Committee and 
Executive Board documentation of 
meetings 

 Agreement on the information that will 
be needed and timescales 

 Discussion between members and 
officers on the information needs of 
members to support decision-making. 

 Scrutiny Committee’s Terms of 
Reference 

 Agenda and minutes of Scrutiny 
meetings 

 Evidence as a result of scrutiny 

 Training for members 

 Committee reports 

 Budget Reports 

Making decisions based on 
relevant, clear objective analysis 
and advice pointing out the 
implications and risks inherent in 
ERW’s financial, social and 
environmental position and 
outlook. 

 Report Templates for Committees  

 Forward Work Plans 
 

Ensuring an effective scrutiny or 
oversight function is in place, 
which provides constructive 
challenge and debate on policies 
and objectives before, during and 
after decisions are made thereby 

 Joint Scrutiny Committee  
 P

age 111

http://vmmoderngov1:8070/ieDocHome.aspx?bcr=1&LLL=0


23 
 

enhancing ERW’s performance and 
that of any organisation for which 
it is responsible. 

 

Providing members and senior 
management with regular reports 
on service delivery plans and on 
progress towards outcome 
achievement. 

 Forward Work Programmes 

 Joint Scrutiny Committee 

Ensuring there is consistency 
between specification stages (such 
as budgets) and post 
implementation reporting (e.g. 
financial statements). 

 Financial Regulations 

 

Sub Principle: Robust internal control 
Requirement Local Guidance  Sources of Assurance 
Aligning the risk management strategy 
and policies on internal control with 
achieving objectives. 

 Risk Register  Risk registers 

 Audit plan 

 Audit reports 

 Reports to Scrutiny Committee 

 Annual Governance Statement 2015-16 

 Head of Internal Audit Annual Assurance 
Statement 
 

Evaluating and monitoring risk 
management and internal control on a 
regular basis. 

 Risk Register 

Ensuring effective counter fraud and 
anti-corruption arrangements are in 
place. 

 Whistleblowing Policy 

Ensuring additional assurance on the 
overall adequacy and effectiveness of 
the framework of governance, risk 
management and control is provided 
by the internal auditor. 

 Business Plan 

 Internal Audit Reports 

 

 

P
age 112



24 
 

 

Sub Principle: Managing data 
Requirement Local Guidance  Sources of Assurance 
Ensuring effective arrangements are 
in place for the safe collection, 
storage, use and sharing of data, 
including processes to safeguard 
personal data. 

 Data Protection Policy 

 Freedom of Information Policy 

 Data Protection Policy and Procedures 

 Data sharing agreement 

 Data sharing register 

 Data processing agreements 

 Data quality procedures and reports 

 Internal Audit Reports Ensuring effective arrangements are 
in place and operating effectively 
when sharing data with other 
bodies. 

 IT Security and Internet Policy 

Reviewing and auditing regularly the 
quality and accuracy of data used in 
decision making and performance 
monitoring. 

 IT Security and Internet Policy 

 

Sub Principle: Strong public financial management 
Requirement Local Guidance  Sources of Assurance 
Ensuring financial management 
supports both long term 
achievement of outcomes and 
short-term financial and operational 
performance. 

 Financial Regulations  Annual Outturn Report 

 Budget monitoring reports 

Ensuring well-developed financial 
management is integrated at all 
levels of planning and control, 
including management of financial 
risks and controls. 

 Financial Regulations 
 

 

 

P
age 113



25 
 

 

Core Principle G: Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting and audit to deliver 

effective accountability. 

Accountability is about ensuring that those making decisions and delivering services are answerable for 

them. Effective accountability is concerned not only with reporting on actions completed, but also ensuring 

that stakeholders are able to understand and respond as ERW plans and carries out its activities in a 

transparent manner. 

Both external and internal audit contribute to effective accountability. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 114



26 
 

 

 

Sub Principle: Implementing good practice in transparency 
Requirement Local Guidance  Sources of Assurance 
Writing and communicating reports 
for the public and other 
stakeholders in a fair, balanced and 
understandable style appropriate to 
the intended audience and ensuring 
that they are easy to access and 
interrogate. 

 Joint Committee Meetings 

 Executive Board Meetings 

 Website 

 Joint Committee and Executive Board 
Meetings 

 Joint Scrutiny Meetings 

 Communication Plan 

Striking a balance between 
providing the right amount of 
information to satisfy transparency 
demands and enhance public 
scrutiny while not being too 
onerous to provide and for users to 
understand. 

 Joint Committee Meetings 

 Joint Scrutiny 

Sub Principle: Implementing good practice in reporting 
Requirement Local Guidance  Sources of Assurance 
Reporting at least annually on 
performance, value for money and 
stewardship of resources to 
stakeholders in a timely and 
understandable way. 

 Legal Agreement  Annual Statement of Accounts 

 Annual Governance Statement 

 Internal Audit Review 

 Annual Governance Statement 

 Partnership Agreements 
 Ensuring members and senior 

management own the results 
reported. 

 Legal Agreement 

P
age 115



27 
 

 

Sub Principle: Assurance and effective accountability 
Requirement Local Guidance  Sources of Assurance 
Ensuring that recommendations for 
corrective action made by external 
audit are acted upon. 

 Internal Audit Reports 
 

 Scrutiny Committees 

 Head of Internal Audit Annual Assurance 
Statement 

 Annual Governance Statements 

 Risk Registers 

Ensuring an effective internal audit 
service with direct access to 
members is in place, providing 
assurance with regard to governance 
arrangements and that 
recommendations are acted upon.  

 Internal Audit Reports 
 

Welcoming peer challenge, reviews 
and inspections from regulatory 
bodies and implementing 
recommendations. 

 Internal Audit Reports 

Gaining assurance on risks 
associated with delivering services 

 Risk Register 
 

Ensuring robust arrangements for 
assessing the extent to which the 
principles contained in this 
Framework have been applied and 
publishing the results on this 
assessment, including an action plan 
for improvement and evidence to 
demonstrate good governance. 

 

Ensuring that this Framework is 
applied to jointly managed or shared 
service organisations as appropriate.   

 Joint Regional Plan 

Ensuring the performance 
information that accompanies the 
financial statements is prepared on 
a consistent and timely basis and the 
statements allow for comparison 
with other, similar organisations.  

 Financial Regulations 
 

P
age 116



28 
 

through third parties and that this is 
evidenced in the annual governance 
statement. 

Ensuring that when working in 
partnership, arrangements for 
accountability have been recognised 
and met. 

 Joint Working Plan 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 117



29 
 

 

Application & Monitoring 

In order to demonstrate the spirit and ethos of good governance, the shared values of ERW must be 

reflected in the behaviour of Officers and Members, as well as Policy, in order to integrate into the Culture. 

As part of the review of the Annual Governance Process, an independent assessment of Compliance with 

this Regional Code of Corporate Governance will be undertaken by the Internal Audit Service.  This will also 

rely on work undertaken in year by both Internal Audit, Wales Audit Office and other Regulatory Bodies. 

Directors and Statutory Officers will be required to complete a self-assessment of the application of the 

Regional Code of Corporate Governance within their area of responsibility. 

The outcome of these assessments, along with the Head of Internal Audit Annual Assurance Statement will 

inform the Annual Governance Statement.  Any areas that require further improvement will be considered 

for inclusion as a Significant Governance Issue or a Priority for Improvement. 

The Regional Code of Corporate Governance will be subject to annual review and update to reflect changes 

to working practices and policies. 

  

P
age 118



30 
 

 

P
age 119



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

   

       
ERW JOINT COMMITTEE  

        21 SEPTEMBER 2017 

Review of ERW Financial Arrangements 

 

Purpose:  

In response to a request at the last meeting, a review paper is attached. 
The purpose is to draw together key information relating to ERW’s 
financial arrangements and propose a way forward. 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS / KEY DECISIONS REQUIRED: 

Accept report findings and support actions to enable the region to develop and evolve further 
and build on its strengths. We are seeking permission to establish to deliver the improvements 
we need to strengthen the region’s confident position will need to progress against all 
recommendations, but specifically to: 
 

➢ Instruct the Lead Chief Executive, Section 151 officer and Managing Director and 

Programme Team to prepare a project plan bringing together the work of evolving the 

region with all grants by April 2018 and other resources, including staff from September 

2018. The Programme Team scope and plan should include the following: 

 

 To put in place clear plans to secure and maintain effective communication 
with and engagement of Directors, headteachers throughout the organization 
and secure consistent implementation of the Business Plan. 
 

 To clarify, agree and document the respective roles and accountabilities of 
the LAs and region in relation to all School Improvement functions and 
services.  

 To develop and cost an organisational delivery model to meet identified 
priorities, supported by a comprehensive and costed implementation plan. 

 To secure appropriately the current ERW Central Senior Leadership Team 
and develop strategic and operating capacity. 

 

REASONS:  

To enable the region to develop and evolve further and build on its strengths. 
 

Report Author: 

Betsan O’Connor 

 

Designation: 

Managing Director 

 

Tel No. 01267 24 5640 

 

E. Mail: 
Betsan.oconnor@erw.org.uk 

Page 121

Agenda Item 7



 

 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

ERW JOINT COMMITTEE 

21 SEPTEMBER 2017 
 

BRIEF SUMMARY OF PURPOSE OF REPORT 

 
The review, undertaken following a request from the Chair of the Joint Committee in the July 
2017 meeting, collates and analyses the key financial working of the ERW region.  
 
The attached paper discusses the grant delegation arrangements of the consortium as well 
as the level of reliance on grant funding and any fragility this creates within ERW’s system. 

 
  

➢ Instruct the Lead Chief Executive, Section 151 officer and Managing Director and 

Programme Team to prepare a project plan bringing together the work of evolving the 

region with all grants by April 2018 and other resources, including staff from September 

2018. The Programme Team scope and plan should include the following: 

 

 To put in place clear plans to secure and maintain effective communication 
with and engagement of Directors, headteachers throughout the organization 
and secure consistent implementation of the Business Plan. 
 

 To clarify, agree and document the respective roles and accountabilities of 
the LAs and region in relation to all School Improvement functions and 
services.  

 To develop and cost an organisational delivery model to meet identified 
priorities, supported by a comprehensive and costed implementation plan. 

 To secure appropriately the current ERW Central Senior Leadership Team 
and develop strategic and operating capacity. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

DETAILED REPORT ATTACHED? YES 

 

 

Page 122



 

 
 
 

IMPLICATIONS 
 

 
Finance  Risk Management Issues  
YES 

 

YES 
 

1. Finance 

The recommendations will inherently have impact on the financing of ERW 

 

2. Risk Management 

The reasoning behind this paper is to improve the effectiveness and efficiency of 
ERW’s school improvement service. Failure to secure these improvements 
presents a risk to ERW of a slowdown in the pace of improvement.  

 

 
CONSULTATIONS 

Details of any consultations undertaken are to be included here 
 
 
 
 

Section 100D Local Government Act, 1972 – Access to Information 
List of Background Papers used in the preparation of this report: 

THESE ARE DETAILED BELOW 

Title of Document 
 

File Ref 
No. 

Locations that the papers are available for 
public inspection  

   
 
 

Page 123



This page is intentionally left blank



                                                                                                           

 

 
 

 
Joint Committee Report 

ERW Financial Arrangements 
 

 
  

Page 125



1 

 

 
 

An overview of the ERW Consortium Financial arrangements 
 

Foreword. 

 

The purpose of this report is to respond to the decision of the ERW Joint Committee 

(JC) that: 

 

‘A full financial review be undertaken of both grants and core funding’ (minute 9.6 ERW 

Joint Committee July 2017) 

Method 

The report has been constructed using information previously presented to the JC by 

the Section 151 Officer, information received directly from Local Authority (LA) finance 

officers, and from the ERW Senior Accountant. These include: 

 The Statement of Accounts 2016-17 and 2017-18 

 The Risk Register 

 Revenue Budget and Financial Monitoring Reports 

 Consortium Internal Audit Report 2016 and 2017 

 Correspondence from Welsh Government 

 Relevant grant terms and conditions 

 
 
 
 

Jon Haswell and Betsan O’Connor September 2017 

 

  

Page 126



2 

 

 

1. Introduction and Purpose 
 

The purpose of this report is to provide an overview of the ERW Consortium financial 
arrangements. 
 

2. Context 
 

In 2013 Robert Hill conducted a review of education services in Wales. This review 
was intended to help shape Wales' education reform programme by placing at the 
heart, a national model for school improvement. The development of the model was 
based upon a vision of regional school improvement, where consortia deliver services 
on behalf of local authorities (LA) and  
 

'lead, orchestrate and coordinate improvement in the performance of schools and 
education of young people' (National Model for Regional Working Guidance 126/2014). 
 

The model enabled the LA to retain the statutory responsibility for schools and school 
improvement but through undertaking the role of commissioner and quality assurer, 
rather than the traditional deliverer of services. 
 

An agreement was reached between the leaders of all 22 local authorities, the Welsh 
Local Government Association and the then Minister for Education and Skills, to 
ringfence funding for school improvement. Following transition, some other consortia 
have been able  to reduce this funding subsequently and in a planned way over a 
period of 2-4 years.  
 
On 1st April 2014, Council Leaders agreed to transfer identified school improvement 
funding directly to the lead financial authority for the Region, who, in turn would make it 
available in full to the consortium. In addition, the major Welsh Government grants and 
associated Local Authority match funding would also be transferred. However, this did 
not take place in ERW.  
 

At the time ERW was established, the partner authorities took a positive decision to 
introduce a new organisational model in a way which minimised disruption. This 
approach was also applied to financial management and the distribution of grants. As a 
consequence, the ERW authorities have continued to manage, distribute and monitor 
resources using their established local authority financial systems rather than moving 
to a regional financial model with pooled school improvement budgets and a common 
approach to grant arrangements. 
 

Over the past 4 years, there has been a steady but relentless increase in the demands 
placed upon the consortium. As Welsh Government become more prescriptive in their 
expectation that School Improvement services, initiatives and resources should be 
delivered on a regional basis and in accordance with the National Model for regional 
working, the current financial arrangements become increasingly unsustainable in 
ERW. 

Page 127



3 

 

 
 
 
 
 

3. Core Budget ERW 
 

The National Model for School Improvement identified the required Local Authority 
minimum contribution to the consortium based on the 2014 -15 Mainstream Schools 
SSA. The total for the ERW region was £5,322,639  
 

Table 1 

 
Required Local Authority minimum contributions for 2014-15, based on the 2014-15 

Mainstream Schools SSA 
 

 
 Local Authority Contribution 

E
R

W
 

Powys  £786,048 
£414,511 
£759,950 

£1,141,069 
£1,370,773 
£850,288 

Ceredigion  
Pembrokeshire  
Carmarthenshire  
Swansea  
Neath Port Talbot  
Sub total  
   

£5,322,639  * 
   

 
*The contribution is calculated according to pupil numbers taken from the Stats Wales and 
applied on a pro rata basis. 
 

At the time ERW was established, the region’s Local Authorities  agreed that rather 
than passport the identified funding to the Central Team, each LA would retain their 
individual School Improvement funding and make a collective contribution of £250,000 
to support the running costs of the consortium. This figure has remained unchanged for 
the last 3 years. 
 

Table 2 

 
Local Authority Contribution to the running of ERW 2017-18 

 

Local Authority Contribution % 

Carmarthenshire £52,500 21% 

Ceredigion £18,500 7.4% 

Neath Port Talbot £40,250 16.1% 

Pembrokeshire £34,250 13.7% 

Powys £35,000 14.0% 

Swansea £69,500 27.8% 

Total £250,000 100% 

Page 128



4 

 

 

  
Table 3 

The Central Team Revenue Budget for 2017-18 is £725k (June 2017). 
 

ANNUAL EXPENDITURE CORE CENTRAL 
TEAM BUDGET  

2017-18 
Approved 

Budget 
February 2017 

 
£000’s 

2017-18 
Projected 

Outturn Budget 
as at June 2017 

£000’s 

1. STAFFING COSTS      

Salaries  439  477  

Travel, Subsistence, Training & Development  5  4  

  444  481  

2. RUNNING COSTS      

Accommodation  33  42  

Stationery/Telephone/Printing/Copying/ 
Equipment/IT  

21  10  

Translation  35  20  

Rhwyd and Dolen Developments  0  44  

  89  116  

3. FACILITATION      

Service Level Agreements  73  128  

  73  128  

TOTAL ESTIMATED EXPENDITURE  £606  £725 

ANNUAL INCOME      

Local Authority Contributions  250  250  

Other Income/Grants  12  4  

Grant Funding Administration  150  326  

TOTAL ESTIMATED INCOME  £412  £580 

NET EXPENDITURE  194  145  

Appropriation from Reserve  (194)  (145)  

Page 129



5 

 

 
 

It must be noted that the Projected Outturn Budget, (June 2017) presented to the Joint 
Committee by the Section 151 Officer for ERW, includes the £250,000 local authority 
contribution and in order to balance the budget, £145,000 from the local authority 
reserve. The Section 151 Officer advised, that moving forward, there will be a 
requirement to increase the contribution from the six local authorities ( from within the 
ringfenced funding)  as there will be a limited local authority reserve balance 
remaining. (This has also been noted also in previous years) 
 

Local Authority School Improvement Core Budget 
 

Each LA manages its own core school improvement budget and in 2016-17(Table 4) a 
total of circa £5,480,000 was spent on non-delegated school improvement activity 
across the 6 local authorities (Source: LA finance officers March 2017).  
 

However, as there has been no agreement as to which functions should be included in 
a School Improvement Service, all operate on a slightly different basis, providing 
similar but different functions. This must be taken into consideration when looking at 
individual LA budget figures .It also makes comparisons and judgements about 
efficiency or value for money difficult. 
 

Table 4 Local Authority Core School Improvement Budget 2016-17 

 

Local Authority  Core School 
Improvement Budget 

2016-17 

Carmarthenshire   £1,290,309 

Swansea  £1,353,485 

Neath Port Talbot  £709,920 

Powys  £920,920 

Pembrokeshire  £556,732 

Ceredigion  £648,642 

 Total £5,480,008 
Source: LA Finance Officers March 2017 

 
 
 
 
 

RISKS 

 

❖ The agreed collective LA contribution to the ERW central team revenue 
budget set in 2014, does not support the functions and the demands now 
placed upon the consortium  

❖ The funding risk to the organisation has been identified by the: 

Page 130



6 

 

Section 151 Officer 
Annual Internal Audit Report 
Risk Register 
Self-Evaluation Report 

 

❖ The lack of core funding has resulted in an over reliance on WG grants to 
ensure the consortium is able to deliver the National Agenda. 

❖ The service is dependent on ERW ‘local authority reserves’ to balance the 
budget 

❖ There will be a requirement in future years to increase the contributions from 
the 6 local authorities. Over 2-4 years,  2 of the other consortia have secured 
savings on LA contributions on the basis that ringfenced national model 
funding is centralised.  

❖ The small core budget prevents the MD from making secure appointments 
and this adds to the instability of the small central team. 

❖ There has been no collective rationalisation of posts, building of capacity or 
significant pooling of resources across the region, leading to duplication and 
creating a Value for Money (VFM) concern. 

 

4. Grants. 
 

In 2017-18 ERW is projected to receive £68m in grant income. The two major grants 
targeted to drive the improvement of education outcomes for all children, are the 
Education Improvement Grant (EIG) and the Pupil Deprivation Grant (PDG)  which is  
largely devolved directly to schools. . In 2017-18 these total £40,941,220 (including LA 
match funding) and £22,799,300 respectively. These grants are not managed or 
administered centrally but distributed to individual local authorities to use according to 
their local priorities. There is no regional approach or agreed formulae as to how 
funding is delegated to schools and as a consequence the school improvement 
resources and support for schools across the region is variable. This creates 
inconsistencies which are a cause of concern for Headteachers. (Source: 
Headteacher Survey 2017). 
 

Education Improvement Grant (EIG) 
 

The EIG provides financial assistance to schools, local authorities and regional 
education consortia to improve education outcomes for all learners. A minimum 
delegation rate to schools of the total gross funding (including the match -funding 
element) of 80% is required (2017-18). A maximum of 0.75% of the total gross grant 
can be retained for administrative and management purposes. 
 

In the current financial year, (2017-18) the EIG grant for the Region is £40,941,887 
(including LA match funding) of which £1,094,000 is allocated to ERW. The grant is 
distributed to the six LA’s based upon a formula agreed by all Directors and they each 
have a local formula for distributing the required 80% minimum to schools. The value 
of administration contribution to ERW is £8,000. 

Page 131



7 

 

 

When the central team was established in 2014, there were 5fte support staff and a 
coordinator supporting the Managing Director (MD). In July 2017, there are a total of 
34 employees, who, with the exception of the MD and 6 support staff, are on temporary 
contracts funded by grants. Hence, these costs are in addition to the Central Team 
Revenue Budget. This over reliance on grant funding to support posts has been 
essential to meet the requirements placed upon the consortium by the Welsh 
Government. However, it brings instability and makes the team vulnerable as the MD 
does not have the resources to make secure appointments. 
 
 
Table 5.a.  

 

Education Improvement Grant (Including Match funding) 

LA EIG 2016/17 Admin 1% EIG 2017/18 Admin   .75 %        

Carmarthen 8,445,042 84,450 8,310,800 62,331 

Ceredigion  3,375,652 33,757 3,322,206 24,917 

Neath Port Talbot 6,163,771 61,638 6,065,708 45,493 

Pembrokeshire 5,714,902 57,149 5,624,464 42,183 

Powys  6,133,896 61,339 6,036,899 45,277 

Swansea 10,656,862 106,569 10,486,255 78,647 

ERW 801,770 8,017 1,094,887 8,212 

TOTALS £41,291,895 £412,919 £40,491,219 £307,060 

 
 

Table 5a shows the distribution of EIG grant across the Region (April 2016 and April 
2017) the proportions allocated to each local authority and the allowable sum available 
for grant monitoring and administration. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 132



8 

 

Table 5.b.  

                             Education Improvement Grant 2016/17 
 

LA Grant value EIG spend on LA Staff 16/17 

Carmarthenshire  8,445,042 649,202 

Ceredigion 3,375,652 131,295 

Neath Port Talbot 6,163,771 679,565 

Pembrokeshire  5,714,902 406,751 

Powys 6,133,896 296,310 

Swansea 10,656,862 372,672 

TOTALS £40,490,125 £2,535,795 

 
Table 5b shows the grant, with match funding, distributed to Local Authorities, 
including the LA staff costs to EIG as advised by LA finance officers March 2017. 
 

ERW complete quarterly returns to the Welsh Government (WG). However, they do not 
monitor school spend as this is undertaken at a local level. The section  151 officer and 
MD have put into place appropriate measures to ensure that they can be assured of 
compliance by all 6 LAs. Whilst this may be acceptable from a financial perspective, it 
is does not secure the vitally important closer monitoring of grant spend at school level.  
 

Looked After Children Grant (LAC) 
 

The purpose of the Pupil Deprivation Grant (PDG) is to make a lasting impact on 
outcomes for disadvantaged learners. 

 

When the National Model for School Improvement was introduced, the Looked After 
Children grant(LAC) sat outside the remit of the consortia, however this changed in 
2014-15 when the LAC became a component part of the Pupil Deprivation Grant. The 
grant conditions clearly state that the LAC element is to be retained and managed 
centrally by the consortium. However, in ERW, individual local authorities continue to 
manage and administer the majority of grant spend. 

 

In 2016-17 the LAC element of PDG allocated to the Region was £1,068,350, with 
£75,365 directly allocated to the ERW central team. The remainder, was distributed 
across the 6 LAs and used primarily to employ staff. A member of staff is seconded 
from one of the constituent LAs to work as a member of the central team, the 
remainder, work in and are directed by each of the 6 local authorities. The current 
arrangements are inconsistent with the WG instruction to all Consortia Managing 
Directors –  
 

Page 133



9 

 

“to take personal responsibility in making sure that the grant funded support is delivered as 
intended.  We will be scrutinising Consortia plans closely when they are submitted and will 
need to be satisfied that these are consistent with the regional approach advocated by the 
Welsh Government. (Welsh Government July 2017). 
 

Other Grants 

 

The Region is projected to receive a further 31 grants which total £7,500,000 (2017-
18). These grants are designed to support and drive National Policy and unlike EIG 
and PDG they are managed and administered centrally. 
The Welsh Government has committed to allocate an additional £100 million Education 
funding in the period of the current assembly term (until May 2021). In 2017-18 
£9,500,000 has been allocated across Wales, to be managed and distributed through 
accountable regional consortia. This demonstrates the WG commitment to fund 
consortia to deliver services rather than LAs. Similarly, the tighter conditions on 
consortia to use and be accountable for grants  regionally.   ERW is projected to 
receive £3,071,337 this financial year and further substantial regional grants are 
expected to be received through to 2021. It is essential that the region establishes 
appropriate capacity to manage effectively this significant accountability. 
 

Table 6 

Indicative grant figures for 2017-18 

 

ID Name 
ERW IN 
TOTAL  

Managed 
by ERW  

Direct to 
LAs/ 
Schools 

1 Education Improvement Grant 37,751,710 1,094,887 36,656,823 

2 Pupil Deprivation Grant 22,799,300 75,000 22,724,300 

3 Enrichment and Experiences programme for schools  25,000 25,000 0 

4 Schools Challenge Cymru (SCC) 20,513 20,513 0 

5 Targeted Funding  313,118 313,118 0 

6 GCSE Support Programme Grant 724,935 724,935 0 

7 Teaching and Learning Supply  264,126 264,126 0 

8 Pioneers Grant  2,336,944 806,944 1,530,000 

9 
Welsh Language Use Framework (inc.Welsh 
Language Charter (Welsh-medium schools) 243,000 243,000 0 

10 Learning in a Digital Wales (LiDW) - Phase II CPD 142,109 142,109 0 

11 
100 million ministerial committed to School 
Improvement  3,071,337 3,071,337 0 

12 ALN Innovation  360,000 60,000 300,000 

          

    £68,052,092 £6,840,969 £61,211,123 

 
 
 
 

Page 134



10 

 

RISKS 
 

❖ Current consortium grant management arrangements do not reflect WG 
requirements and expectations  

❖ There is no consistent regional approach to the administration or distribution 
of grant funding  

❖ Unless the grants are managed to Welsh Government requirements there is 
a significant risk that essential School Improvement funding will be withheld. 

❖ There is no regional level evaluation of impact  

❖ A significant number of local authority staff are funded through the EIG grant 
which is not guaranteed. 

❖ There is inconsistency and potential duplication in the way in which the 
Looked After Children (LAC) element of the PDG grant is used across the 
Region.  

❖ The MD has been given specific accountability for regional grant 
management which is not deliverable in the current structure. 

 
Conclusions 

 

❖ The agreed collective LA contribution to the central team revenue budget set in 
2013-14, does not support the functions and demands now placed upon the 
consortium 

❖ The funding risk to the organisation has been identified by the: 

▪ Section 151 Officer 

▪ Annual Internal Audit Report 

▪ Risk Register 
 

❖ The budgeted salary costs for ERW 2017-18 are £3,075,000. £83,000 from core 
budget, and a total of £2,992,000 from grant funding.  

❖ The lack of core funding has resulted in an over reliance on grant funding 
streams to ensure the consortium is able to deliver the National Agenda. 

❖ As a result of the Section 151 Officer’s requirement to balance the budget, there 
is a minimal Local Authority Reserve remaining 

❖ If ERW is to remain financially viable, and respond to the increased need for 
support services (such as Finance, HR) local authorities will be required to 
increase their contribution to the core budget in line with the agreed ring fence.  

❖ There is inconsistency and potential duplication in the way in which the Looked 
After Children (LAC) element of the PDG grant is used across the Region.  

❖ The need for resilient strategic management capacity at the heart of the 
consortium is undermined, currently, by an overdependence on grant funding for 
core staff and the extensive use of temporary contracts which are a disincentive 
for talented potential applicants. 

Page 135



11 

 

❖ Current consortium grant management arrangements do not reflect WG 
requirements and expectations that the LAC element of PDG and EIG will be 
managed and administered regionally.  

❖ The Risk Register (June 2017), highlights (risk13), the risk that grant funding 
may be withdrawn. 

❖ There is no direct line of accountability between challenge advisors responsible 
for monitoring the use of grant funding at school level and the central team. 

❖ Inconsistent grant management across the Region leads to variable school and 
pupil access to school improvement funding 

❖ There are a significant number of ERW and LA staff paid through grant funding 
streams which are not guaranteed. 

❖ A lack of core funding prevents the MD from making secure appointments and 
this adds to the instability of the central team. 

❖ There has been no collective rationalisation of posts, building of capacity or 
significant pooling of resources across the region, leading to duplication and 
creating a Value for Money (VFM) concern 

 

Recommendations 
 
 

The Joint Committee agree to: 
 

➢ Instruct the Lead Chief Executive, Section 151 officer and Managing Director to 

establish a Programme Team with suitable governance structures and with 

access to the appropriate financial and HR information to manage the project of 

clarifying and aligning core and grant funding arrangements to enable the 

consortium to deliver a single effective school improvement service and to 

comply fully with WG requirements. 

 

➢ Instruct the Lead Chief Executive, Section 151 officer, Managing Director and 

Programme Team to prepare a project plan bringing together the work of 

evolving the region with all grants by April 2018 and other resources, including 

staff starting from September 2018. The Programme Team scope and plan 

should include the following: 

 

 To put in place clear plans to secure and maintain effective 
communication with and engagement of Directors, headteachers 
throughout the organization and secure consistent implementation of 
the Business Plan. 
 

 To clarify, agree and document the respective roles and 
accountabilities of the LAs and region in relation to all School 
Improvement functions and services.  

Page 136



12 

 

 To develop and cost an organisational delivery model to meet 
identified priorities, supported by a comprehensive and costed 
implementation plan. 
 

 To secure appropriately the current ERW Central Senior Leadership 
Team and develop strategic and operating capacity. 

 

 

➢ Instruct the Lead Chief Executive, Section 151 officer and Managing Director to 

create a common EIG funding formula for schools. 

 

➢ Instruct the Managing Director to ensure that the above recommendations be 

undertaken in parallel with the findings of the report on the capacity of 

Challenge Advisors. 
 
 

 

Page 137



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

ERW JOINT COMMITTEE  
21 SEPTEMBER 2017 

 

CAPACITY OF CHALLENGE ADVISERS 

Purpose: Following an initial request from the Joint Scrutiny Councillor 
Group, the Joint Committee requested further detail of the capacity of the 
region’s Challenge Adviser. 

RECOMMENDATIONS / KEY DECISIONS REQUIRED: 

Accept report findings and support actions to enable the region to develop and evolve further 
and build on its strengths.  

 
We are seeking permission to establish to deliver the improvements. We need to strengthen 
the region’s confident position and will need to progress against all recommendations, but 
specifically to: 
 

➢ Instruct the Lead Chief Executive, Section 151 officer and Managing Director and 

Programme Team to prepare a project plan bringing together the work of evolving the 

region with all grants by April 2018 and other resources, including staff from September 

2018. The Programme Team scope and plan should include the following: 

 

 To put in place clear plans to secure and maintain effective communication 
with and engagement of Directors, headteachers throughout the organization 
and secure consistent implementation of the Business Plan. 
 

 To clarify, agree and document the respective roles and accountabilities of 
the LAs and region in relation to all School Improvement functions and 
services.  

 To develop and cost an organisational delivery model to meet identified 
priorities, supported by a comprehensive and costed implementation plan. 

 To secure appropriately the current ERW Central Senior Leadership Team 
and develop strategic and operating capacity. 

REASONS:  

to enable the region to develop and evolve further and build on its strengths.  
 

Report Author: 

 

Betsan O’Connor 

Designation: 

 

Managing Director 

Tel No. 01267 24 5640 

 

E. Mail: 
Betsan.oconnor@erw.org.uk 

 

Page 139

Agenda Item 8



 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

ERW JOINT COMMITTEE 

21 SEPTEMBER 2017 

BRIEF SUMMARY OF PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
The report is broken down into the following sections: 
 
1. Staffing Numbers 
2. Consistency and Compliance 
3. Accountability and Line Management 
4. Meeting National Standards 
5. Subject Specialists 
 

 
The recommendations are as follows: 
 

➢ Instruct the Lead Chief Executive, Section 151 officer and Managing Director and 

Programme Team to prepare a project plan bringing together the work of evolving the 

region with all grants by April 2018 and other resources, including staff from September 

2018. The Programme Team scope and plan should include the following: 

 

 To put in place clear plans to secure and maintain effective communication 
with and engagement of Directors, headteachers throughout the organization 
and secure consistent implementation of the Business Plan. 
 

 To clarify, agree and document the respective roles and accountabilities of 
the LAs and region in relation to all School Improvement functions and 
services.  

 To develop and cost an organisational delivery model to meet identified 
priorities, supported by a comprehensive and costed implementation plan. 

 To secure appropriately the current ERW Central Senior Leadership Team 
and develop strategic and operating capacity. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

DETAILED REPORT ATTACHED? YES 

 

Page 140



 

 
 

IMPLICATIONS 
 

 
Legal  Finance  Risk Management Issues  Staffing Implications 
YES 
 

YES 
 

YES 
 

YES 
 

1. Legal  

           The subject of Challenge Adviser employment is raised in ERW Legal Agreement. 
Recommendations in this report for changes may facilitate eventual amendments to this 
Legal Agreement.   

2. Finance 

Any recommendation from the report linked to changing the employment and 
deployment  

3. Risk Management 

Any issue surrounding lack of capacity, compliance or consistency in the region’s 
Challenge Adviser presents a risk to ERW’s core business of school improvement.  

4. Staffing Implications 

The discussion of Challenge Adviser capacity and their employment by individual Local 
Authorities is intrinsically linked to staffing.  

 
CONSULTATIONS 

Details of any consultations undertaken are to be included here 
 
 

Section 100D Local Government Act, 1972 – Access to Information 
List of Background Papers used in the preparation of this report: 

THESE ARE DETAILED BELOW 

Title of Document 
 

File Ref 
No. 

Locations that the papers are available for 
public inspection  

   
 
 

Page 141



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Report to Joint Committee on the  

Capacity of Challenge Advisers 

  

Page 143



 

 

 

1.Introduction 

This report has been prepared in response to a request from the Joint Committee on 

17th July 2017.  The request was to collate a full picture of the capacity of Challenge 

Advisers across the region to deliver effective school improvement services and 

propose recommendations for improvement.   

The Joint Committee received correspondence from the Chair of Scrutiny in relation 

to the number Challenge Advisers employed within the region and requested a 

report on the issues. Following consideration of the risk register, the Joint Committee 

agreed that the report should be extended to include the quality, performance and 

deployment of advisors and support staff and recommendations as to how to 

respond to the risks identified in the Internal Audit report 

The report highlights key areas for development and recommendations for the Joint 

Committee. It has been informed by Joint Committee documents, the risk register 

and feedback from recent Headteacher and Challenge Adviser surveys. 

2. Context  

The report has been informed by documents considered by the Joint Committee 

relating to the Risk Register, Internal Audit Report and responses to the July 2017 

Headteacher Survey. 

The ERW risk register includes the following risks at Central Team level:- 

• (Estyn) Inspection of the region finds less than adequate standards, provision and 

leadership 

• Insufficient capacity of the Central Team and Challenge Adviser Team to deliver 

Business Plan to high standards, and maintain the levels of progress seen in ERW 

in recent years 

• Governance footing of ERW found to be ineffective at securing consistent 

improvement across all LAs, recognizing that some LAs make good progress. 

• Failure to address or implement key areas of the ERW business plan 

• Limited capacity risks undermining ability of ERW to respond at pace and with 

impact to new National Model 

• Letters from Welsh Government raising concerns that regions is not using regional 

grants within the spirit and terms and conditions. Risk funding may be withdrawn 

• Individual LAs fail to comply with Grant Terms and Conditions. 

 

Page 144



 

 

At Local Authority level, the Risk Register includes the following risks which applied 

to the six authorities reporting, albeit with slightly different assessments of likelihood 

and impact :- 

• Inconsistencies in support to schools due to variability in the work of Challenge 

Advisers  

• Categorisation judgements undermined by a proportion of Advisers not following 

processes 

• Insufficient monitoring of and support to schools causing concern 

• LA staff including Challenge Advisers unnecessarily undertaking activities outside 

regional strategy 

• Failure to continue to raise standards especially for EFSM pupils  

 

The 2015-16 Internal Audit Opinion and Assurance Statement included the 

following:- 

• Support agreed by Challenge Advisers following visits was not always in line with 

recommendations made/ areas of improvement identified. Further improvement is 

required to ensure targeted concise recommendations are made 

• Support delivered by Challenge Advisers is not always in line with the support 

package agreed as part of the Core Visit, with variations also identified between 

the support entitlement and the number of days actually delivered. 

• As Local Authority action/Improvement plans are not consistently received by the 

ERW Central Team it is difficult to determine whether the support is being targeted 

correctly to fully aid Improvement within these schools  

 

The key improvement issues identified in the Headteacher Survey  reported to the 

Joint Committee in July 2017 have been summarised as follows:- 

• Support is not sufficiently tailored to meet needs of schools, only 61% of 

respondents believed it met well the allocation entitlement of the categorisation 

process. Another 31% found it only adequate.  

• There is a need for more school to school Networking, sharing of good practice and 

more knowledge of schools which should be used as benchmarks 

• There is a high turnover of Challenge Advisors in schools which is disruptive to 

school progress and development. This was exacerbated by the commissioned 

Headteacher model in some cases. 

• All Challenge Advisers need to be well prepared before visiting schools.  

Page 145



 

 

• There needs to be greater consistency in the work of Challenge Advisers at Local 

Authority level and across the Consortium. There is a divide in the experience 

schools in different local authorities have received. Surveys show this. 

• Some Challenge Advisers were described as too focussed on interrogating the 

data and not engaging with the work of the school. Despite this, 84% of HTs felt 

that the core visits carried out by ChAds understood the school’s strengths and 

weaknesses very well and that 84% felt that categorisation was delivered 

effectively. There is however variation in each LA related to this judgement. 

• There is a lack of regional consistency and understanding of the role of ERW and 

what it stands for. 

It should be noted that the concerns of Headteachers and the risks identified by the 

Joint Committee continue to be addressed by the Consortium Central Team and by 

partner authorities. The Consortium and its partner authorities can demonstrate 

numerous areas of good practice, excellent outcomes and innovations which are 

delivering a positive impact for learners. The purpose of this report is to identify 

opportunities to built the capacity and systems of the Consortium to ensure that best 

performance becomes a standard achieved across the region so that pupils in every 

setting have an opportunity to excel. 

The concerns and identified areas for improvement outlined above have helped to 

shape this report on the regional arrangements for Challenge Advisers and other 

school Improvement staff. The report addresses staffing numbers, consistency and 

compliance, accountability and line management, the national standards and other 

school improvement staff. 

3. Staffing Numbers 

When ERW was established, an agreement was made between directors that 58 

FTE Challenge Advisers would be provided between the 6 Local Authorities to allow 

ERW to carry out its work in monitoring, supporting, challenging and intervening in 

schools.   

The following numbers were agreed: 

LA Full time equivalent (FTE) 

Carmarthenshire 12.48 

Pembrokeshire  7.73 

Ceredigion 5.99 

Powys 10.28 

Page 146



 

 

NPT  8.95 

Swansea  12.52 

 

 

The original agreement made in March 2012 was reaffirmed by Directors in 

September 2015. 

The number of staff employed varies from term to term due to a staff turnover and 

use of secondments including commissioned headteachers. During the academic 

year 2016-17 the number of Challenge Advisers working in the region varied 

between 39 and 45.  In July 2017 the number of FTE Challenge Advisers engaged to 

work in September 2017 was 41.7 

 

LA Current 

FTEs 

Vacant 

posts 

Permanen

t staff 

Fixed 

term 

Second

ed staff 

Commissione

d HTs 

Consul

tant 

Pembs 6 1.73 3.5 1 1.5 0  

Carms 7 5.48 3     

NPT 7 .5 1.95 6 0 1 0  

Swansea 8 6.52 4.2  1 1.7 0.1 

Ceredigio

n 

5.7 0.29 4.9 0 0.8 0 0 

Powys 8 2.28 8 0 0 0 0 

Total  41.7 18.25 26.6 1 3.5 1.7 0.1 

 

Based on information received from LAs the above table outlines current Challenge 

Adviser numbers in each LA. 

Ceredigion and NPT have historically been at or close to full quota.   

There are also 4 Challenge Advisers employed by the ERW central team on a part 

time basis to support secondary schools in Pembrokeshire and Powys. These are in 

addition to the LA employed advisers, providing recent school leadership experience 

and adding capacity to the local team. 

Page 147



 

 

The employment and deployment of Challenge Advisers is undertaken by Local 

Authorities  independently of the ERW Central Team, leading to variation in 

approach between authorities and schools. Too often it is unclear if these staff meet 

the required national standards for Challenge Advisers. 

Some Challenge Advisers also undertake other roles for a proportion of their time. 

Those proportions are determined by the employing authorities and tend to be 

interpreted pragmatically. As there is no regional system to apportion Challenge 

Adviser time there can be no certainty about the hours actually committed to 

Challenge Adviser activity and no basis to make judgements about the productivity of 

the staff employed. 

ERW is the only consortium in Wales which does not directly employ, deploy or 

performance manage regional Challenge Advisers. The best efforts of the Central 

Consortium team and six partner authorities to achieve a consistent approach has 

not been fully successful to date. Whilst some progress has been achieved through 

regionally managed and delivered training, not all Challenge Advisers attend. In 

addition, there is a high turnover of seconded headteachers in the team which affect 

continuity. This also affects attendance at training, as does other commitments 

outside ‘school improvement’. Furthermore, there is a lack of a regional approach to 

induction for the permanent, part time and temporary roles being undertaken. 

The number of schools in ERW has reduced during the period 2012-2017 but there 

has been no formal agreement to review the irreducible minimum number of 

Challenge Advisers. As there is no collective information about the productivity of 

Challenge Advisers, the data necessary to accurately review the numbers on a 

regional basis does not exist. Currently the ERW Challenge Capacity is 16.3 FTE 

below the agreed ‘irreducible mínimum‘number, even assuming that the agreed 

percentage of Challenge Advisor time allocated is delivered. 

495 = 2017 

532 = 2012 

 

4. Consistency and Compliance 

There is no uniform adoption of the national standards for Challenge Advisers, 

resulting in inconsistencies in expectation and deployment. There are no common 

job descriptions across the region, enabling local flexibilities and sustaining previous 

practices which have minimised impact on schools. Discussions on inconsistencies 

have taken place, and additional support has been made available. Regular 

compliance reports are taken to Executive Board to highlight these issues.  

However, this has compromised opportunities for more consistent regional practices 

to be developed, clarity of roles to be understood and coherent processes for 

performance management and staff development to be introduced. These 

inconsistencies are also reflected in staff undertaking similar roles on different terms.  

Page 148



 

 

The ERW central team provide guidance to all Challenge Advisers to seek to 

improve consistency of approach in support, challenge and intervention in schools. 

This includes sharing of effective strategies to support school causing concern and 

to establish consistently high expectations amongst Headteachers across the region. 

However, the day to day pressures on Challenge Advisers undertaking additional 

and different roles, directed by Local Authority managers, means that the impact of 

central efforts to establish consistency and support high standards are undermined, 

particularly when too many Challenge Advisers are unable to attend scheduled 

training and briefing events.  

Summative reports are prepared by Hub leads to draw together the key themes from 

Challenge Adviser visits annually. Review of this documentation by the Central Team 

reveals high levels of support required to bring reports to a standard fit for 

publication; reports too often describe data and fail to make definitive judgements. 

Coaching and further training has not had the necessary impact, especially when 

Advisers do not meet the necessary standards on appointment.  Significant variation 

and inconsistency have been identified, for example when being too generous with 

judgements (Estyn 2016) and not following guidance set in the Challenge Adviser 

handbook. In addition to inconsistencies in reporting, the Q A process has identified 

that arrangements to ensure agreed support and school actions are delivered but not 

consistently followed up with sufficient rigour. 

The use of seconded Headteachers as Challenge Advisers is an important 

opportunity to secure recent and relevant school experience. Headteachers and 

other consultant Challenge Advisers brings additional challenges for line 

management, requiring strong infrastructure, effective induction and clear processes 

to secure identified support for their schools. The variability in the work of Challenge 

Advisers appears greater when externally commissioned consultants undertake the 

role. Headteachers welcome the peer support but more effective regional 

arrangements are needed to equip and support this talented (and high cost) 

Challenge Adviser resource. Effective Challenge Adviser support needs to be 

delivered as part of a coordinated, systematic and quality assured process in order 

to ensure authoritative, secure and consistent judgement about school progress 

across the region. 

A key responsibility of the Challenge Advisor is to ensure that School Improvement 

grants (EIG, PDG, LAC) allocated to schools are deployed in accordance with 

School Development plans. Increasingly WG are placing accountability for grant 

spend with consortia but in the ERW region local authorities continue to fulfil this 

function. The absence of an effective link between the Challenge Adviser oversight 

of school use of key grants and the central team, limits the ability of the Consortium 

to deliver this key operational and financial accountability for grants management.  

These arrangements also contribute to variability in grant funding and expectations 

between schools. It is inevitable that lack of consistency in these areas contributes to 

variable school performance. 

These inconsistencies hinder ERW’s ability to improve further and develop the 

region strongly and coherently and build on recent strong foundation and progress. 

Page 149



 

 

There is a risk of creating reputational damage which undermines all ERW partners. 

The recent Headteacher survey results also reflect the consequential confusion of 

some Headteachers as to the key purposes of the Consortium and the respective 

accountabilities of ERW and the Local Authorities. Almost a third of Head teachers in 

ERW feel that communication is less than effective.  In other regions in Wales 

accountabilities are more clear. 

5.  Accountability and Line Management 

Accountability for the employment of Challenge Advisers rests with Local Authority 

partners. Whilst the Local Authorities have established operational hubs of paired 

authorities to manage the geography of the region, the deployment and performance 

management of Challenge Advisers is managed by each local Authority and each 

takes a different approach.  

The quality assurance of Challenge Adviser work is the responsibility of their Local 

Authority line managers, both Heads of Hub and Principal Challenge Advisers.  

Heads of Hub lead and deploy staff within the paired local authorities with Principal 

Challenge Advisers appointed by authorities to undertake additional complex or 

supervisory roles. However, there is no consistency across the region. 

Currently, the ERW Central team have limited oversight of the work of Challenge 

Advisers. Quality assurance processes, undertaken by a senior manager in ERW, 

focus almost entirely on the Challenge Adviser school visit reports and progress 

against recommendations made as a result of ESTYN inspections and core visits. 

Whilst this process has limitations, it is sufficient to reveal inconsistencies In the work 

in supporting schools, delivering National priorities and in responding to school 

underperformance. This matches the experiences reported by Headteachers.  

Challenge Advisers currently identify themselves in terms of their local authority 

employer. The weak links with ERW and lack of direct line management from the 

Central Team prevents the development and delivery of consistent Challenge 

Adviser improvement practice across the region.  

From a consortium perspective the information, communication and management 

chain is too long and the links too weak. From a Headteacher perspective the quality 

of support is variable. 60% of HT respondents stated that they had received a good 

and relevant menu of support as a consequence of the adviser's visit to their school. 

The lack of consistent regional focus is further revealed when different Challenge 

Advisers attending the same school (due to turnover or lack of core staff) are seen to 

adopt different approaches based on their own expertise rather than the needs of the 

school, and when the feedback is analyzed on an LA level. 

There are examples of effective work being delivered by some excellent and 

experienced Challenge Advisers but performance across the region is inconsistent. 

There can be little doubt that this is a significant contributory factor to the current 

variability in school performance. Whilst Challenge Advisers remain accountable to 

and deployed by the six local Authority partners, inconsistency in approach, 

prioritisation and impact will continue.  

Page 150



 

 

Arrangements have been but in place to support colleagues to learn from each 

other’s practice, these include training using best and worst practice in writing, mater 

classes on writing evaluatively for data analysis. In addition, shadowing opportunities 

have been made available across partner authorities. However, many Challenge 

Advisers have not taken advantage of these opportunities. Similarly, feedback on 

ChAd judgements are provided at regional moderation events for categorisation. 

However, again advisers do not respond to the feedback given systematically, and 

this information is not consistently used to manage or improve performance 

 

6. Meeting National Standards 

The National Standards for Challenge Advisers has 4 aspects, each with a specific 

group of skills linked to that aspect. Each ChAd is expected to be able to comply with 

the standards 

Annually, Challenge Advisers complete an anonymous self-assessment against the 

national standards. This helps the ERW Central team to shape training and provide 

further guidance and professional learning.  

Advisers have reported over the last three years the following aspects of the 

standards which they are confident or less confident about. In 2017 Challenge 

Advisers are:- 

 more confident in their knowledge, skill and confidence when supporting and 
challenging schools on self-evaluation.

 able to and confident when building relationships effectively and motivating 
leaders in schools. 

 

 less confident when engaging in difficult conversations although skills and 
confidence has improved slightly over three years. 

 

 less confident when writing clear and concise reports although skills and 
confidence has improved over three years. 

 

 becoming more confident in their knowledge, skills and confidence when 
brokering support and intervention; however, progress in this area has been 
slower than supporting self evaluation and  developing school leadership. 

 more confident when identifying resources and measuring the impact of 
support provided. 

 less confident when brokering support and facilitating school to school 
support. 

 fairly comfortable with coaching and supporting different levels of leadership 
in schools. 

 less confident when developing levels of collective accountability and 
challenging leadership. ChAds are less confident when working with lead 

Page 151



 

 

practitioners in schools to facilitate a journey of improvement in other 
schools.1 

 

 

Self evaluation therefore of the core work being undertaken across the region 

demonstrate that elements of the skills and knowledge required to tackle key aspects 

of support and challenge to schools is not improving at a sufficient pace and that 

Challenge Adviser performance remains too variable.  

This year, (2017), evaluations of our work across the region demonstrated that 

progress to tackle key aspects of support and challenge to schools was not 

improving at a sufficient pace, and that Challenge Adviser performance was too 

variable. The self-assessment survey then became personalised so that this became 

a more relevant and useful tool to measure self-assessment against actual 

performance. Up to 30% of advisers require development in these core areas. 

The National Standards for Challenge Advisers has 4 aspects, each with a specific 

group of skills linked to that aspect. Each ChAd is expected to be able to comply with 

the standards. 

 

    

7. Other School Improvement Staff 

In addition to Challenge Advisers and their six management structures in the local 

authorities, there are a range of staff who work to deliver School Improvement. Local 

Authorities also employ specialist subject Advisers for different phases, local 

authorities also employ Athrawon Bro, Early Years specialists, LAC, Minority Ethnic 

support, ICT, Digital Leaders, Wellbeing Officers, Governor Support and Data 

management staff. 

Subject specialists work across the region to support specific areas for 

improvement.  The job titles, job descriptions, roles and pay vary across Local 

Authorities.  The impact and quality of their work is also variable. This is identified 

through the support log on ERW’s intranet which reveals inconsistencies, lack of 

sharing of good practice and potential duplication. 

Subject specialist representatives from each Local Authority attend ERW working 

groups and contribute to the development of the menu of support.  In addition, 

subject specialists across the region work jointly to develop support packages for 

schools to improve consistency of message.  However, the ERW central team are 

not able to monitor, target or direct the work of individual subject specialists.  As a 

result, the quality of support provided to schools varies across the region. This is 

especially an issue for school causing concern.  

                                                 
1 Summative report of Challenge Adviser self assessment against National Standards 2014-16.  
, 

Page 152

http://www.apple.com/uk


 

 

The quality of report writing and the completion of the support log is too variable for 

schools causing concern, making it difficult for the ERW central team to monitor 

support activity in schools.  In addition, a significant number of subject specialists 

develop resources independent of ERW and do not share these resources in a 

timely manner with colleagues in each LA.  This results in further duplication and 

inconsistency, too often this work is neither recent nor relevant and does not take 

account of the latest national position or guidance. 

Where highly able and potentially influential subject specialist are identified, the 

current structures limit their scope for impact and opportunities for regional 

Improvement are constrained. Feedback from support sessions provided by subject 

specialists still vary too greatly, despite the development of common packages.  In 

addition there are examples of Local Authority officers offering advice to schools 

which conflicts with those messages provided by ERW’s Leaders of Learning.  This 

is a major cause of frustration amongst Headteachers and adversely affects the 

credibility of all involved.   

These inconsistencies in practice, lost opportunities for collaboration and areas of 

potential duplication are also likely to apply to some degree to the management and 

deployment of other School Improvement staff groups identified. It is beyond the 

scope of this report to undertake a formal assessment of the potential benefits 

arising from bringing these staff under a single management structure. However, as 

the arrangements for reorganising Challenge Adviser arrangements are progressed, 

the processes for redefining the regional role in School Improvement should include 

the potential for other groups to transfer to the direct management of the 

Consortium. 

Any transfer arrangements must also take into account the linguistic demands, 

cultural expectations and also the geographic opportunities and constraints if the 

region. Whilst the current Hub structures do not appear to be delivering the regional 

improvements required, some form of sub regional delivery structures with clear 

accountabilities to the Central Team are likely to be required to balance the need for 

improved outcomes and regional consistency with practical arrangements which 

minimise travel and non school time for these valuable staff groups. 

 

8. Conclusions 

Since its establishment, ERW has done very well in driving improvement in school 

performance. This is to be celebrated. However, there are inconsistencies and a 

need to review the function, finance and structure of ERW to meet future demands 

and WG expectations.  

When the region was established, arrangements for employing and deploying 

Challenge Advisers were agreed with a clear rationale to protect relationships 

between Challenge Advisers and schools and to ensure that the Local Authorities 

links with schools was not undermined. That arrangement has delivered some 

successes but is no longer fit for purpose.  

Page 153



 

 

Whilst the scope of this report was to identify capacity and quality of the current 

Challenge Advisers, it is clear that the current organisational design does not allow 

for consistent and effective recruitment, deployment and performance management. 

Variability adversely affects performance, credibility and Headteacher confidence. 

Some measures to address the shortcomings identified in this report may be 

possible within existing organisational arrangements. However, the scale of changes 

needed across the six partner authorities can only be delivered effectively through a 

reorganisation which places the accountability for employing and deploying 

Challenge Advisers with the Consortium. Local Authorities should become 

commissioners rather than providers of core school improvement services. 

In undertaking a review of arrangements for these key Challenge Adviser posts, it is 

inevitable that the impact on other School Improvement staff and residual local 

Authority roles will need to be addressed. The review should also examine closely 

the current use of grant funding to support School Improvement posts across the 

region. Current arrangements are overdependent on grant funding and lack 

resilience. 

It is a credit to current managers, staff and Headteachers that there continue to be 

examples of good pupil progress in the Region despite current organisational 

complexities and diffuse accountability structures.   

The change management processes required should build upon existing strengths 

and be developed in consultation with key partners, teaching associations and staff 

representatives. 

The scope and form of the change will require careful consideration from all 

stakeholders. The development of key options are necessary now through the next 

stages of development, in parallel with decisions on funding. 

 

9. Recommendations 

The Joint Committee agree to: 
 

➢ Instruct the Lead Chief Executive, Section 151 officer and Managing Director 

to establish a Programme Team with suitable governance structures and with 

access to the appropriate financial and HR information to manage the project 

of clarifying, scoping and shaping the accountability arrangements for the 

employment and deployment of school improvement staff including Challenge 

Advisers to enable the consortium to deliver a single effective school 

improvement service and to comply fully with WG requirements. 

 

➢ Instruct the Lead Chief Executive, Section 151 officer and Managing Director 

and Programme Team to prepare a project plan bringing together the work of 

evolving the region with all grants by April 2018 and other resources, including 

staff from September 2018. The Programme Team scope and plan should 

include the following: 

Page 154



 

 

 

 To put in place clear plans to secure and maintain effective 
communication with and engagement of Directors, headteachers 
throughout the organization and secure consistent implementation 
of the Business Plan. 
 

 To clarify, agree and document the respective roles and 
accountabilities of the LAs and region in relation to all School 
Improvement functions and services.  

 To develop and cost an organisational delivery model to meet 
identified priorities, supported by a comprehensive and costed 
implementation plan. 
 

 To secure appropriately the current ERW Central Senior Leadership 
Team and develop strategic and operating capacity. 

 

 

 

➢ Instruct the Managing Director to ensure that the above recommendations be 

undertaken in parallel with the findings of the report Review of Financial 

arrangements. 
 
 

 

Page 155



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
  ERW JOINT COMMITTEE  

            21
 
SEPTEMBER 2017 

 

G.C.S.E. Results 

 

Purpose: To provide an update on changes to performance measures and 
to provide information on pupil performance in ERW and across Wales.   

 

RECOMMENDATIONS / KEY DECISIONS REQUIRED: 

For information only 

 

REASONS:  

 
 

Report Author: 

Alan Edwards  

Yan James  

Designation: 

Head of Teaching and Learning 

Head of Leadership 

 

Tel No. 

E. Mail: 
alan.edwards@erw.org.uk  

yan.james@erw.org.uk  

 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 157

Agenda Item 9

mailto:alan.edwards@erw.org.uk
mailto:yan.james@erw.org.uk


 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

ERW JOINT COMMITTEE 

21 SEPTEMBER 2017 

G.C.S.E. Results 

 

BRIEF SUMMARY OF PURPOSE OF REPORT 
This report provides an overview of the national outcomes at GCSE. 
 
It also provides key headline information with regard to changes to qualifications and 
performance measures. 
 
National headline figures. 
 
In comparison with summer 2016 results for all candidates: 

 

 the proportion achieving A* is unchanged at 6.1% 

 the proportion achieving A* and A is down by 1.5 percentage points to 17.9% 

 the proportion achieving A* to C is down by 3.8 percentage points to 62.8% 

 the proportion achieving A* to G is down by 1.8 percentage points to 96.9% 

  
Performance in ERW 
 
Performance in ERW has declined in all key indicators.  Performance in the Level 2 inclusive 
threshold has declined by 8 percentage points and is lower than performance in 2014.   

 

 
IMPLICATIONS 

 
Policy, Crime & 
Disorder and 
Equalities 

Legal  Finance  Risk Management Issues  Staffing Implications 

NONE NONE NONE YES NONE 

1. Risk Management 

It will be necessary to consider the impact of this performance in each LA and school.  The 
ERW central team are currently analysing data at school and pupil level to identify and target 
support for this term.  

CONSULTATIONS 
Not applicable 
 
 

Section 100D Local Government Act, 1972 – Access to Information 
List of Background Papers used in the preparation of this report: 

THESE ARE DETAILED BELOW 

Title of Document File Ref No. Locations that the papers are available for public inspection  

Performance Data   
 

Page 158



 

 

 

Joint Committee Report 

August 2017  

GCSE results 

  

Page 159



Introduction 

 

The aim of this report is to highlight the key changes which have affected the GCSE results 

this year. The report will also identify national level figures and subject data for Wales. This 

report is for information only.  

  

GCSE All-Wales Summary 2017 

A number of changes to performance measures and qualifications in Wales should be 

considered when interpreting headline figures.  These are: 

 new qualifications for Welsh and English Language and literature have been 

introduced 

 new qualifications for mathematics and mathematics numeracy have been 

introduced – this means that pupils now sit two qualifications for mathematics (2 

papers); and 

 there has been an increase in the number of pupils entered early for these 

qualifications which will have impacted on grade boundaries and results.   

Headlines  

In comparison with summer 2016 results for all candidates: 

the proportion achieving A* is unchanged at 6.1% 

the proportion achieving A* and A is down by 1.5 percentage points to 17.9% 

the proportion achieving A* to C is down by 3.8 percentage points to 62.8% 

the proportion achieving A* to G is down by 1.8 percentage points to 96.9% 

 A significant factor contributing to this fall is the considerable change in entry 

patterns, notably, a significant increase in the number of Year 10 entries and a 

significant number of Year 11 students achieving their maths qualifications in 

November. 

 The growing trend in early entry means more students have taken exams early, 

‘banked’ a result and not returned to sit the exam again this summer – many will be 

students who have achieved a Grade C or above that would otherwise appear in this 

summer’s results. As a consequence, reliable conclusions cannot be drawn from 

direct comparisons between results in summer 2017 and summer 2016, or direct 

comparisons between summer results across the UK. 

 

GCSE Mathematics 

 

Due to the range of entry patters, reliable conclusions cannot be drawn from the 

comparison between results in summer 2017 and summer 2016. Given the scale of 

Page 160



change between the old mathematics GCSE and the two new mathematics GCSEs, 

along with the multiple entry attempts available to students, detailed comparisons 

between previous years’ results and this year’s results are not possible. 

 

 

In the table below the best outcomes for 16-year-old students this academic year 

compared to the 2015/2016 and 2014/2015 academic years are shown as they provide the 

most consistent comparator: 

  2014 / 2015 cumulative % 2015 / 2016 

cumulative % 

2016/2017 

cumulative % 

2016-2017 

difference  

A* 6.8 7.5 10.8 +3.3 

A*-A 16.0 17.4 20.2 +2.8 

A*-C 63.7 65.5 63.8 - 1.7 

A*-G 97.9 98.7 98.0 - 0.7 

 

GCSE English Language 

Between 2016 and 2017 there has been a significant increase in the overall entries in GCSE 

English Language by 67%. This significant increase is affected by the number of Year 10 

students entered this summer.  

This year, pupils could only sit the new qualification in the summer series, so care needs to 

be taken when comparing this summer’s data to data from previous years.  

Given the significant shift in entry pattern for this qualification, reliable conclusions cannot 

be drawn from the comparison between all student results in summer 2017 and summer 

2016. Therefore, we have used 16-year-old outcomes as the only consistent comparator.  

Outcomes for 16-year-old students this year compared to the 2014/2015 and 2015/2016 

academic years are shown in the table below: 

  2014 / 2015 

cumulative % 

2015 / 2016 

cumulative % 

2016 / 2017 

cumulative % 

2016-2017 

difference 

A* 3.1 2.8 3.2 +0.4 

A*-A 13.8 13.6 14.0 +0.4 

A*-C 64.5 64.2 64.5 +0.3 

A*-G 99.2 99.2 98.6 - 0.6 

 

It is evident both nationally and regionally that many year 10 pupils have performed well at 

the Level 2 indicator.  In many cases they are outperforming pupils in current year 11.  There 

are a number of likely reasons for this.   

Page 161



 School adapted their Key Stage 3 Scheme of work so year 10 will have had an extra 

year of focused skills teaching 

 The delay in release of the specification meant that schools were less well prepared 

to teach current year 11 effectively 

 Teachers will have improved and developed their teaching style and year 10 pupils 

have had more time to benefit from this 

 Year 10 pupils have had an additional 2 years national literacy tests and the LNF.   

GCSE English Literature 

Outcomes for 16-year-old students who have achieved a GCSE in English Literature (either 

sat in Year 10 or Year 11), are shown in the table below: 

  2015 / 2016 cumulative % 2016 / 2017 cumulative % 2016-2017 difference  

A* 4.3 4.1 - 0.2 

A*-A 19.8 19.9 +0.1 

A*-C 77.5 77.1 -0.4 

A*-G 99.3 99.3 = 

 

GCSE Welsh Language 

As for GCSE Welsh Language, overall entries for GCSE Welsh Language have increased due 

to a significant increase in Year 10 entries. Given the significant shift in entry pattern for this 

qualification, reliable conclusions cannot be drawn from the comparison between all 

student results in summer 2017 and summer 2016. 

Outcomes for 16-year-old students this year compared to 2015/2016 academic years are 

shown in the table below: 

  2015 / 2016 cumulative % 2016 / 2017 cumulative % 2016 / 2017 difference  

A* 3.9 4.0 +0.1 

A*-A 15.4 15.6 +0.2 

A*-C 73.9 73.6 -0.3 

A*-G 99.8 99.6 -0.2 

 

GCSE Welsh Literature 

Outcomes for 16-year-old students this year compared to 2015/2016 are shown in the 

table below: 

  2015 / 2016 cumulative % 2016 / 2017 cumulative % 2016 / 2017 difference 

A* 8.2 9.0 +0.8 

A*-A 23.4 24.2 +0.8 

A*-C 74.5 75.1 -0.6 

Page 162



A*-G 99.9 99.9 = 

 

GCSE Science  

The new science GCSEs will be awarded for the first time next year and are currently being 
studied by Year 10 students. This therefore means that the old GCSE Science which was 
historically taken by Year 10 students has seen a significant fall in overall entries this year of 
78%. This significant change in entries means that comparisons cannot be made when 
interpreting results year on year. With such a major change, the results are also very 
different, with 34.8% of candidates gaining grades A*-C. 
 
For Additional Science, there was a 26.2% increase in entries and a reduction in outcomes 

by 1.6 and 6.0 percentage points at A*-A and A*-C respectively (from 69.9% to 63.9% 

respectively for the latter). 

For Biology, results at A* and A*-A are similar to 2016, with a reduction of 2.3 percentage 

points at A*-C. For Chemistry and Physics there have been falls in outcomes at grades A*-C, 

by 1.3 and 0.8 percentage points respectively and also at grades A* and A*-A for Physics. 

Welsh (2nd) Language  

Results have remained stable for the full course at A*-C, but have improved by 1.7 and 1.8 

percentage points at grades A* and A*-A respectively. This year has seen a decrease of 

2,000 in the overall entries for the short course (which are now 12,450), but an increase of 

500 in the number of candidates aged 15. For these 5,100 younger candidates the outcomes 

are somewhat better (17.1% gaining grades A*-A and 61.9% gaining grades A*-C) than for 

the overall entry. 

Modern Foreign Languages  

Results are substantially improved for German, by 5.1, 11.9 and 8.3 percentage points at A*, 

A*-A and A*-C respectively, reversing a weakening in results at upper grades last year. 

Results for Spanish are very similar to the previous year, with small improvements at A*, A*-

B and A*-C, but for French results are considerably lower at the top grades (e.g. at A*-A and 

A*-B by 2.5 and 3.7 percentage points, respectively). However, in each of these subjects, 

well over 70% of candidates continue to achieve grades A*-C. 

 

24/8/17 

Page 163



This page is intentionally left blank



  

Key Stage 4 Performance in ERW 

(Provisional data) 

Performance in ERW has declined in all Key Indicators.  Below is a summary of pupil performance in 

the Key indicators.  This summary is based on provisional and unverified data. 

The Level 2 inclusive figure (5 Level 2 qualifications including Welsh/English and maths) 

 

Performance in the Level 2 inclusive figure has been more variable across schools in ERW in 2017.  

Many schools have seen a decrease in this key indicator and only 11 schools have improved on 

performance of pupils from 2016.  In addition, all 6 Local authorities have seen a decrease in the 

proportion of pupils achieving this measure.   

Performance in ERW remains the highest of the four consortia.  However the decrease of 8 

percentage points is a concern.  In addition, performance in ERW in this indicator is below the 

performance in 2014 

Welsh 

2017 is the first year where pupil attainment in Welsh Literature is not included in the Welsh 

performance indicator.  However, when disaggregating Welsh literature it has very little impact on 

results.   

Welsh 2015 

(%) 

2016 

(%) 

2017 

(%) 

Difference from 

2016 – 2017 

(%) 

L2+ 2015 

(%) 

2016 

(%) 

2017 

(%) 

Difference from 

2016 – 2017 

(%) 

Powys 64 65 61 -4 

Ceredigion 63 70 62 -8 

Pembrokeshire 54 59 55 -4 

Carmarthenshire 61 65 56 -9 

Swansea 64 65 57 -8 

NPT 58 61 50 -11 

ERW 61 64 56 -8 

Page 165



  

Powys 74.3 65.2 69.7 +4.5 

Ceredigion 74.8 73.5 78.8 +5.3 

Pembrokeshire 78.4 88.7 81.3 -7.4 

Carmarthenshire 74.4 72.8 71.7 -1.1 

Swansea 83.9 82.7 85.2 +2.5 

NPT 71.7 68.5 72.1 +3.6 

ERW 75.8 75.0 75.9 +0.9 

 

Performance in Welsh Language has improved appropriately in 4 of the 6 Local Authorities.  

Performance in ERW has improved by 0.9 percentage points.  However, 2 of the 6 Local Authorities 

has had a declined in pupils outcomes.   

English 

2017 is the first year where pupil attainment in English literature is not included in the English 

performance indicator.  

 

Performance in English is variable across ERW.  When comparing figures from 2016 to 2017 for the 

English measure all 6 Local Authorities have seen a decline in performance.  However, when English 

literature is excluded from 2016 figures half of the Local Authorities in ERW have improved and half 

have decreased.   

English 2016 2017  Difference from 2016 -17 

Mainstream only inc Lit exc Lit Language 

only 

Inc Lit 2016 Exc Lit 2016 

Powys 75 70 73 -2 +3 

Ceredigion 77 74 69 -8 -5 

Pembrokeshire 70 60 65 -5 +5 

Carmarthenshire 74 70 63 -11 -7 

Swansea 70 65 66 -4 +1 

NPT 69 65 61 -8 -4 

ERW 72 67 66 -6 -1 

Page 166



  

Performance in ERW has declined from 2016.   

Mathematics 

In 2017 pupils sat two GCSEs in mathematics.  The table outlined performance in mathematics, 

mathematics numeracy and the best of either qualification.  Due to the significant changes in the 

mathematics numeracy qualification, Comparisons in 2017 are only made between mathematics and 

the best of either qualification.   

 

Performance in mathematics has declined significantly in 2017.  When considering mathematics only 

and the best of either mathematics qualification all 6 Local Authorities have seen a decline in 

performance. 

Pupil performance in mathematics across ERW has declined from 2016.   

Level 2 Threshold 

 2015 

(%) 

2016 

(%) 

2017 

(%) 

Difference from 

20916 – 2017 

(%) 

Powys 88.7 86.6 74.0 -9.6 

Ceredigion 89.9 91.4 80.7 -10.7 

Pembrokeshire 83.0 84.5 65.9 -18.6 

Mathematics 2016 

(%) 

2017  

(%) 

Difference from 2016 -

2017 

(%) 

  Maths Num Best of Maths Best of 

Powys 72 63 63 68 -9 -4 

Ceredigion 75 64 63 69 -11 -6 

Pembrokeshire 65 59 53 62 -6 -3 

Carmarthenshire 71 55 51 58 -16 -13 

Swansea 72 61 58 64 -11 -8 

NPT 67 56 52 59 -11 -8 

ERW 70 59 56 63 -11 -7 

Page 167



  

Carmarthenshire 87.0 89.2 73.3 -15.9 

Swansea 88.9 86.9 67.7 -19.2 

NPT 92.0 89.0 63.7 -25.3 

ERW 88.2 87.7 69.9 -17.8 

 

Performance in the level 2 threshold has declined in all Local Authorities in 2017.  This is the first 

year where there the 40% rule for vocational subjects has been applied.  Performance in this 

indicator has decreased significantly in ERW.   

Level 1 Threshold 

 

 

Performance in ERW in the Level 1 threshold has declined by 1 percentage point since 2015.  

Performance in this indicator has remained consistent across most Local Authorities. 

L1 2015 
(%) 

2016 
(%) 

2017 
(%) 

Difference from 

20916 – 2017 

(%) 

Powys 97 96 97 -1 

Ceredigion 97 96 96 0 

Pembrokeshire 95 96 94 -2 

Carmarthenshire 96 97 97 0 

Swansea 97 97 95 -2 

NPT 96 95 92 -3 

ERW 96 96 95 -1 

Page 168


	Agenda
	3 TO SIGN AS A CORRECT RECORD THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE JOINT COMMITTEE HELD ON THE 17TH JULY 2017.
	4 ERW STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS FOR 2016-17.
	REPORT 1
	REPORT 2
	REPORT 3

	5 ERW CONSORTIUM ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 2016-17.
	REPORT

	6 REGIONAL CODE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE.
	REPORT

	7 REVIEW OF ERW FINANCIAL ARRANGEMENTS.
	REPORT

	8 CAPACITY OF CHALLENGE ADVISERS.
	REPORT

	9 G.C.S.E. RESULTS.
	REPORT 1
	REPORT 2


